LUNG-HOMING OF EPC AND ANGIOGENESIS IN ASTHMA: ROLE OF

EOSINOPHILS

LUNG-HOMING OF ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELLS AND ANGIOGENESIS IN A MOUSE MODEL OF ASTHMA: ROLE OF EOSINOPHILS

By

NIROOYA SIVAPALAN, B.Sc.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Masters of Science

McMaster University

© Copyright by Nirooya Sivapalan, November 2012

MASTERS OF SCIENCE (2012)

McMaster University

(Medical Sciences – Infection and Immunology)

Hamilton Ontario

TITLE:	Lung-homing of Endothelial Progenitor Cells and	
	Angiogenesis in a Mouse Model of Asthma: Role of Eosinophils	
AUTHOR:	Nirooya Sivapalan, B.Sc. (University of Toronto)	
SUPERVISOR:	Dr. Roma Sehmi	
NUMBER OF PAGES:	xi,121	

ABSTRACT:

Asthma involves a systemic element that includes the mobilization and lungaccumulation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells (EPC). This traffic may be driven by the stromal cell derived factor-1 α (SDF-1 α)/CXCR4 axis, where SDF1- α is a potent progenitor cell chemoattractant.

Interfering with EPC lung-accumulation by administering AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist, was previously shown to be associated with the modulation of airway angiogenesis and airway hyperresponsiveness. However, since eosinophils express CXCR4, it is unknown whether AMD3100 acted directly on EPC or indirectly through its anti-inflammatory effects on eosinophils.

We investigated the role that eosinophilic inflammation plays in the lung-homing of EPCs and airway angiogenesis in allergic asthmatic response by utilizing eosinophil deficient (PHIL) mice.

Wild-type BALB/c (WT) and PHIL mice underwent a chronic house dust mite (HDM) exposure protocol. Treatment groups were administered AMD3100. Outcome measurements were made 24hrs post final exposure and included: flow cytometry to enumerate lung-extracted EPCs, immunostaining for von Willebrand factor to assess bronchial vascularity, bronchoalveolar lavage for airway inflammation, haematoxylin and eosin stain to enumerate eosinophils, picrosirius red stain to assess collagen deposition, and measurement of airway resistance to increasing intranasal doses of methacholine.

HDM exposed mice had a significant increase in EPC lung accumulation, bronchial vascularity, airway inflammation, collagen deposition and airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) in both WT and PHIL groups, with some indices at lower levels in PHIL mice. Concurrent treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated EPC lung homing, bronchial vascularity, eosinophil numbers in lung tissue and AHR, but not collagen deposition in WT mice. AMD3100 treatment significantly attenuated all indices in PHIL mice.

The findings of this study show that, EPC-driven angiogenesis and the development of AHR in allergic airway responses are independent of eosinophils, the presence of these cells, however, may have a role in worsening of the pathology of allergic airways disease.

ACKNOWLEGEMENTS

I would like to thank the labs and members associated with the Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health (FIRH) and McMaster University for providing a stimulating and comfortable environment in which to expand my scientific knowledge. I am honored to have had such a wonderful support system in the past and present graduate students of FIRH, particularly Neha Punia, Christopher Dalle Ave, Dan Moldaver, Shyam Maharaj, and Lindsay DoHarris for their help and advice throughout my time as a Masters student.

A special thank you to Jennifer Wattie for all of her help with the breeding and treatment of study subjects as well as being by my side for every one of my outcome days with a smile on her face. I would also like to thank Russ Ellis for his support and training in histology as well as my committee members Dr. Mark Inman and Dr. Gail Gauvreau for lending their knowledge and expertise to my study.

I am grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Roma Sehmi, for being such a wonderful mentor and teacher throughout this study. Her help and guidance over the years has allowed me to achieve goals many M.Sc. students do not have the chance to experience, and I truly appreciate that.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for being my anchor during the best and worst of times throughout my personal and academic career. I look forward to achieving many more goals to come with their constant love and support as well as with the love of my newborn nephew Aaren.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DESCRIPTIV	E NOTE	ii	
ABSTRACT			
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS v			
TABLE OF C	ONTENTS	vi	
LIST OF TAB	LES AND FIGURES	ix	
LIST OF ABE	BREVIATIONS	Х	
CHAPTER 1 -	- INTRODUCTION	1	
1.1	Prevalance 1		
1.2	Clinical Manifestations of Asthma 1		
1.3	Inflammation and Asthma	3	
	1.3.1 Early Phase Response	4	
	1.3.2 Late Phase Response	4	
	1.3.3 Eosinophils	5	
1.4	Airway Remodeling	7	
	1.4.1 Airway Fibrosis	7	
	1.4.2 Airway Smooth Muscle	8	
	1.4.3 Airway Epithelium	9	
1.5	Vascular Remodeling and Asthma	10	
	1.5.1 Vascular Permeability and Vasodilation	11	
1.6	Airway Angiogenesis	12	
	1.6.1 VEGF	13	
	1.6.2 Quantification of Blood Vessels	15	
	1.6.3 von Willebrand factor	16	
1.7	Progenitor Cells and Asthma	17	
	1.7.1 Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells (HPC)	18	
	1.7.2 Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSC)	21	
	1.7.3 Fibrocytes	22	
1.8	Endothelial Progenitor Cells	24	
	1.8.1 EPC Phenotypes and Identification	24	
	1.8.2 EPC and Angiogenesis	25	
	1.8.3 Mobilization of EPC	27	
	1.8.4 SDF-1α/CXCR4 Axis	28	
	1.8.5 EPC and Asthma	29	
1.9	Proposed Treatment and Confounding Factors	30	
	1.9.1 AMD3100	30	

	1.9.2	Potential Role of Eosinophils in EPC mobilization and	21
1 10	Mouse	Anglogenesis	31
1.10	1 10 1	Mouse Strain	33
	1.10.1	Allergens Utilized in Mouse Models of Asthma	34
1 1 1	Hypoth	Antigens offized in Wouse Wouels of Astilina	36
1.11	Specifi	c Questions	36
1.12	Aims		36
1.13	Scienti	fic Impact	30
1.14	Scienti	ne impact	57
CHAPTER 2-	METHC	DDS	38
2.1	Animal	ls	38
2.2	Allerge	en Exposure and Treatment Intervention	38
	2.2.1	Chronic Allergen Exposure	38
	2.2.2	Treatment Regimen	38
2.3	Airway	Responsiveness	40
	2.3.1	Airway Physiology	40
2.4	Bronchoalveolar Lavage		41
	2.4.1	BAL Fluid Collection	41
	2.4.2	Cytospin Preparation and Cell Staining	41
2.5	Progen	itor Cell Isolation	42
	2.5.1	Cell Isolation from Lung Tissue	42
	2.5.2	Cell Staining and Flow Cytometric Analysis	43
2.6	Immun	ohistochemistry	45
	2.6.1	von Willebrand Factor	45
	2.6.2	Picrosirius Red Staining (Collagen Staining)	46
	2.6.3	Haematoxylin and Eosin (enumeration of lung	
	~	eosinophils)	47
2.7	Statisti	cal Analysis	47
CHAPTER 3-	RESUL	ГЅ	48
3.1	HDM (Chronic Exposure Model in WT Mice	48
	3.1.1	Lung-extracted progenitor cell numbers and drug effects.	48
	3.1.2	Bronchial vascularity and drug effects	50
	3.1.3	Airway inflammation and drug effects via BAL	52
	3.1.4	Lung tissue eosinophilia and drug effects	54
	3.1.5	Collagen deposition and drug effects	55
	3.1.6	Airway responsiveness and drug effects	57
3.2	HDM (Chronic Exposure Model in Eosinophil Deficient PHIL	

	Mice		59	
	3.2.1	Lung-extracted progenitor cell numbers	59	
	3.2.2	Bronchial vascularity	61	
	3.2.3	Airway inflammation via BAL	63	
	3.2.4	Lung eosinophilia	65	
	3.2.5	Collagen deposition	66	
	3.2.6	Airway responsiveness	68	
CHAPTER 4	- DISCU	SSION	70	
4.1	HDM	Chronic Exposure Model in WT Mice	71	
	4.1.1	HDM vs. OVA	71	
4.2	PHIL I	Mice	74	
	4.2.1	WT vs. PHIL chronic HDM exposure model	76	
	4.2.2	WT vs. PHIL drug treatment- progenitor cells, bronchial		
		vascularity and AHR	77	
	4.2.3	WT vs. PHIL drug treatment- airway inflammation and		
4.2		lung tissue eosinophilia	78	
4.3	Collag	llagen Deposition		
4.4	Conclu	onclusion		
4.5	Limita	tions	80	
	4.5.1	Optimal concentration of drug	80	
	4.5.2	Drug specificity	81	
	4.5.3	Assessment of airway eosinophilia	82	
	4.5.4	Collagen deposition	82	
4.6	Future	Directions	83	
	4.6.1	∆dblGATA model	83	
	4.6.2	Drug effects on lymphocytes	84	
	4.6.3	Role of CXCR7 in EPC proliferation	86	
	4.6.4	Drug effects in lung fibrosis	86	
	4.6.5	Clinical AMD3100 experiments in lung	87	
REFERENCI	ES		88	
APPENDIX A	A-Pilot S Defici	tudy: HDM Chronic Exposure Model in Eosinophil ent AdblGATA Mice	114	
APPENDIX I	B		120	

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table Number	Description	Page
1	FACS Staining antibody proportions	44

Figure	Title	Page
number		
1	Lung Recruitment of Endothelial Progenitor Cells in an	30
	Allergic Asthmatic Response	
2	Allergen Exposure Protocol	39
3	WT Total Primitive Progenitor Cell and EPC Quantification	49
4	WT MVD as measured by vWF Immunostain	51
5	WT Airway Inflammation as measured by BAL	53
6	WT Airway Eosinophilia as measured by H&E stain	54
7	WT Collagen deposition as measured by PSR stain	56
8	WT Airway Resistance	58
9	PHIL Total Primitive Progenitor Cell and EPC Quantification	60
10	PHIL MVD as measured by vWF Immunostain	62
11	PHIL Airway Inflammation as measured by BAL	64
12	PHIL Airway Eosinophilia as measured by H&E stain	65
13	PHIL Collagen deposition as measured by PSR stain	67
14	PHIL Airway Resistance	69
15	Pilot: AdblGATA Total Primitive Progenitor Cell and EPC	114
	Quantification	
16	Pilot: AdblGATA MVD as measured by vWF Immunostain	115
17	Pilot: AdblGATA Airway Inflammation as measured by	116
	BAL	
18	Pilot: AdblGATA Airway Eosinophilia as measured by	117
	H&E stain	
19	Pilot: AdblGATA Collagen deposition as measured by PSR	118
	stain	
20	Pilot: AdblGATA Airway Resistance	119

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
Ab	Antibodies
AHR	Airway Hyperresponsiveness
Ag	Allergen
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AREB	Animal Research Ethics Board
ASM	Airway Smooth Muscle
BAL	Bronchoalveolar Lavage
BM	Bone Marrow
Brd U	5'-bromo-2'deoxyuridine
CCR	C-C Chemokine Receptor
CFU	Colony Forming Unit
CDC	Center for Disease Control
Col	Collagen
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CXCR	C-X-C Chemokine Receptor
DC	Dendritic cell
EAR	Early Asthmatic Response
EC	Endothelial Cell
ECP	Eosinophil Cationic Protein
EDN	Eosinophil-derived Neurotoxin
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EOG-EPC	Early Outgrowth EPC
EPO	Eosinophil Peroxidase
EPC	Endothelial Progenitor Cell
Eo/B	Eosinophil/Basophil
FACS	Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorting
FEV_1	Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 Second
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
FITC	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
GCM	Goblet Cell Metaplasia
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-
	Stimulating Factor
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
HDM	House Dust Mite
H&E	Haematoxylin and Eosin
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HPC	Hematopoietic Progenitor Cell
HSPGs	Heparan Sulfate Proteioglycans
ICAM-1	Intracellular Adhesion Molecule 1
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
ĨĹ	Interleukin
i.n.	Intranasal

LAR	Late Asthmatic Response
LOG-EPC	Late Outgrowth EPC
LTC_4	Leukotriene C4
MACS	Magnetic-Activated Cell Sorting
MBP	Major Basic Protein
MCh	Methacholine
MIP	Macrophage Inflammatory Protein
MMP-1	Matrix Metalloproteinase 1
MSC	Mesenchymal Stem Cell
MVD	Microvessel Density
NGF	Nerve Growth Factor
NaN3	Sodium Azide
OVA	Ovalbumin
PECAM-1	Platelet Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule
	1
PerCP	Peridinin Chlorophyll Protein
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Solution
PB	Peripheral Blood
PC ₂₀	Provocative Concentration Causing a 20%
	fall in FEV_1
PDGFR	Platelet-derived Growth factor Receptor
PE	Phycoerythrin
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PGD ₂	Prostaglandin D2
PSR	Picrosirius Red Stain
RTK	Receptor Tyrosine Kinase
Sca-1	Stem-cell Antigen-1
SDF-1	Stromal-Derived Factor 1
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
SSC	Side Light Scatter
TBS	Tris-buffered Saline
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
T _H	T helper
TLR-4	Toll-like Receptor 4
TNF-a	Tumour Necrosis Factor alpha
TSLP	Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin
VCAM-1	Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1
vWF	Von Willebrand Factor
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
ZO-1	Tight Junction Protein 1
	-

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Prevalence

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease affecting more than 300 million people worldwide (Urbano F, 2008) with annual deaths estimated at 250 000 (World Health Organization [WHO], 2007) and prevalence rates increasing by 50% every decade (Holmes AM, Solari R, Holgate ST, 2011). In Canada, numbers are rising with approximately 3 million individuals (8.5% of the population aged 12 and over) currently affected (Asthma, 2010) and 146 000 emergency room visits annually due to asthma exacerbations (Canadian Lung Association, 1994 Update). Asthma is also the most common childhood disease affecting at least 13% of Canadian children and is a major cause of hospitalizations (Garner R and Kohen D, 2008; Millar WJ and Gerry BH, 1998). Additionally, global economic costs associated with asthma exceed those of tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS combined (Braman SS, 2006). The increased economic and childhood impact of asthma emphasises the necessity for a better understanding of the mechanisms of asthma pathology to provide potential therapeutic targets to better treat this healthcare burden.

1.2 Clinical Manifestations of Asthma

The clinical symptoms of asthma include recurrent episodes of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness and coughing. Physiologically, it is characterized by reversible airflow obstruction which is associated with inflammation of the airways and airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) (Murphy DM and O'Byrne PM, 2010).

Airway responsiveness refers to the ability of the airway to narrow following inhalation of a constrictor agonist (such as methacholine and histamine). AHR describes the combination of hypersensitivity and hyperreactivity; hypersensitivity being an increased sensitivity of the airway in developing this response, therefore requiring a smaller concentration of constrictor agonist to initiate bronchoconstriction, and hyperreactivity is characterized by a greater magnitude of constriction (O'Byrne PM and Inman MD, 2003). AHR is related to disease severity and is often used as a defining characteristic in asthma diagnosis (Townley and Horiba 2003).

Spirometry is a commonly used tool to diagnose asthma. In this test, an individual inhales or exhales volumes of air as a function of time providing multiple indices to assess lung function (Miller MR et al., 2005). The most important indices for assessing airway obstruction are forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), the volume of air exhaled in the first second of a forced expiration from full inspiration, and forced vital capacity (FVC) which is the maximum volume of air that can be exhaled following full inspiration (Miller MR et al., 2005). A ratio of FEV₁/FVC less than 0.75 suggests airflow limitation (GINA, 2011). The provocative concentration (PC)₂₀ is the concentration of constrictor agonist required to cause a 20% fall in FEV₁ compared to baseline values (Lemanske RF and Busse WW, 2003). To measure AHR, a bronchoprovocation test is performed where measurements with a spirometer are made after the patient inhales incremental doses of methacholine (MCh). A PC₂₀ of 16mg/ml or more in the absence of corticosteroid therapy indicates normal lung function whereas a PC₂₀ less than 8mg/ml of

MCh suggests the patient is asthmatic (Lemanske RF and Busse WW, 2003; O'Byrne PM and Inman MD, 2003), however, individuals with COPD may also display these values.

To diagnose asthma, FEV_1/FVC is measured at a baseline and 15-20 minutes after administering a fast acting bronchodilator (such as 200µg albuterol). An improvement by more than 12% and 200mL indicates reversibility of the airflow obstruction and suggests the individual may have asthma and not irreversible obstructive diseases such as COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) (Bateman et al., 2008).

1.3 Inflammation and Asthma

A key feature of allergen-induced asthma is chronic inflammation of the airway (Boyce JA et al., 2009). Following inhalation, allergens encounter dendritic cells lining the airway subepithelium. These dendritic cells bind to the antigen (allergen) and migrate to draining lymph nodes, where antigen presentation to T-cells occurs. This results in an increased number of T-helper 2 cells (T_H2 cells) which produce cytokines including interleukin (IL)-4,5,9, and 13. T_H2 cytokines and co-stimulatory factors are involved in activating B-cells to produce Immunoglobulin E (IgE) antibody. Allergen-specific IgE can then circulate throughout the blood and bind to IgE receptors (FcERI or FcERII) found on inflammatory cells (mast cells, basophils, lymphocytes, eosinophils) stimulating the inflammatory activity of these cells during subsequent allergen exposure (Busse WW and Lemanske RF, 2001; Gauvreau GM and Evans MY, 2007).

Asthma can be divided into early and late phase responses:

1.3.1 Early Phase Response

Once allergen sensitization occurs, subsequent exposure to the sensitizing agent results in an inappropriate reaction to an otherwise innocuous agent; i.e. an allergic asthmatic response. Asthmatic responses are characterized by an 'early asthmatic response' (EAR) with a key feature being bronchospasm by smooth muscle cells following allergen exposure. When subjected to allergen challenge, the EAR occurs within 10 min of inhalation, reaches maximal bronchial contraction within 30 minutes and resolves within 3 hours. The EAR is characterized by a fall in FEV₁ by at least 15-20% from baseline (Gauvreau GM and Evans MY, 2007).

In EAR, the allergen binds to IgE antibodies produced by the initial sensitization phase (Boyce JA et al., 2009). The allergen initiates cross-linking of IgE anti-bodies which stimulate mast cells and basophils to release preformed mediators such as histamine, leukotrienes and prostaglandin D2 (PGD₂) which cause bronchoconstriction and vascular permeability (Gauvreau GM and Evans MY, 2007). In addition, these mast cell derived mediators can stimulate the influx of other pro-inflammatory cells, such as T-lymphocytes, eosinophils, basophils and neutrophils into the airways (Afshar R, Medoff BD, and Luster AD, 2008; Averbeck et al. 2007; Platts-Mills T, Leung DY, and Schatz M, 2007).

1.3.2 Late Phase Response

In 50% of individuals, a subsequent late asthmatic response (LAR) occurs between 4 and 8hrs after allergen challenge, measured by a fall in FEV_1 of 15% or greater (Gauvreau GM and Evans MY 2007; Robertson DG et al., 1974). More commonly associated with chronic inflammation, LAR is characterized by increased bronchovascular permeability, increased mucus secretion, a significant increase in AHR as measured by a drop in methacholine PC_{20} which is associated with infiltration of the airway by inflammatory cells (Gauvreau GM and Evans MY, 2007; Afshar R, Medoff BD, and Luster AD, 2008; Gauvreau GM et al. 2000; Robertson DG et al., 1974). The main inflammatory cells involved are eosinophils and T_H2 cells, but bronchial biopsies from asthmatics also show increases in tissue numbers of mast cells and basophils (Busse WW and Lemanske RF, 2001).

1.3.3 Eosinophils

Eosinophils are implicated as the primary effector cells of chronic inflammation in asthma. Allergen induced accumulation of eosinophils in the lungs is associated with the activation of the bone marrow (BM) by hemopoietic signals (Foster PS et al., 2001; Gauvreau GM et al., 2005). The primary activating signal of eosinophils is IL-5, which is released by T_H2 cells and promotes eosinophil proliferation and mobilization from the bone marrow (Wood LJ et al., 2002; Minshall E et al., 1998; Hogan MB et al., 2000). IL-5 promotes migration of eosinophils by up-regulating CCR3 expression on the eosinophil cell surface which is the receptor for eotaxin, the primary mediator of eosinophil migration (Conroy DM et al., 1997; Zeibecoglou K et al., 1999; Stirling RG et al., 2001).

Once recruited to the site of inflammation, eosinophils degranulate and release four functionally different cytotoxic granule basic proteins: eosinophil cationic protein (ECP), major basic protein (MBP), eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) and eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (EDN). ECP mediates toxic effects by inducing mast cell degranulation and stimulating airway mucus secretion (Venge P et al., 1999; Hogan SP et al., 2008). MBP increases the release of acetylcholine by blocking vagal muscarinic M2 and M3 receptor, thereby intensifying bronchial responsiveness (Evans CM et al., 2000). MBP also stimulates mast cells and basophils. EPO makes up 25% of the proteins in eosinophil granules and promotes oxidative stress and subsequent cell death (Rothenberg ME and Hogan SP, 2006). All of these mediators promote tissue damage either directly or indirectly through activation of inflammatory cells.

Eosinophils also contribute to inflammation by releasing an array of cytokines (such as IL-4,-5,-13 and TGF- α/β) and chemokines (e.g. eotaxin, RANTES and MIP-1 α) (Rothenberg ME and Hogan SP, 2006). Many of the cytokines released by eosinophils (IL-5, IL-3, GM-CSF, IL-4, IL-13 and eotaxin) play an important role in eosinophil development and localization, thereby further promoting lung eosinophilia. In addition, cytokines such as IL-4 amplify T_H2 immune responses by enhancing T cell proliferation, activation and polarization towards T_H2. Eosinophils have also been shown to directly activate T cells by acting as an antigen-presenting cell (Shi H, 2004).

Although bronchial inflammation is a feature of asthma exacerbation, antiinflammatory therapies have been largely unsuccessful in completely reversing sustained airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and declining lung function in asthmatic subjects as patients continue to suffer with this disease (Jeffery PK, 2001). This emphasizes the necessity for a more complete understanding regarding the mechanisms and lung remodeling changes of this complex disease, which may reveal new potential therapeutic targets that would aid in relieving the public health burden of asthma.

1.4 Airway Remodeling

Although inflammation is a major contributor to asthma disease pathology, the inability for anti-inflammatory treatment to completely reverse asthmatic airway obstruction suggests that other pathological processes may be involved in producing changes in airway function (Leigh R et al., 2002). Other than airway infiltration of inflammatory cells, histopathological studies of resected lung and bronchial biopsies have demonstrated several characteristic structural changes within the airways of asthmatics which relate to the disease severity (Elias JA. et al., 1999; Jeffery PK, 2001; Pascual RM and Peters SP, 2005). These changes include variations in the composition, organization or quantity of cells in the airway wall and are collectively referred as 'airway remodeling' (Warner SM and Knight DA, 2008). Common remodeling features include airway fibrosis, airway smooth muscle hyperplasia and metaplasia, changes to the airway epithelium and changes to airway vascularity (Warner SM and Knight DA, 2008). These changes can contribute to airway obstruction, and have been correlated with loss of lung function in asthmatic individuals (Pascual RM and Peters SP, 2005).

1.4.1 Airway Fibrosis

Airway fibrosis in asthma is largely attributed to an increase in deposition of collagen I, III, fibronectin and proteoglycans (Roche WR et al., 1989). Fibroblasts are thought to be the source of this deposition, as these cells release a variety of cytokines and chemokines which facilitate extracellular matrix deposition in normal wound healing and, once this process is complete, disappear through mechanisms of apoptosis. However in a chronic disease such as asthma, fibroblasts persist and promote tissue remodeling,

resulting in significant sub-epithelial fibrosis, decreasing airway compliance, increasing thickening of the airway and contributing to AHR (Brewster CE et al., 1990; Kunzmann S et al., 2007; Sacco O et al., 2004). It has been proposed that these increased number of tissue fibroblasts may come from either, the trans-differentiation of lung resident epithelial cells to mesenchymal cells (Kim KK et al., 2006) or, as will be described in detail later in section 1.7.3, from bone marrow derived fibrocytes that may traffic and home to the lung where they adopt a fibroblastic phenotype, resulting in an increase of fibroblastic foci and airway fibrosis (Andersson-Sjoland A et al., 2008; Schmidt M et al., 2003; Reilkoff RA et al., 2011). Subepithelial fibrosis has been linked with disease severity, a decline in FEV₁, and AHR to methacholine in human subjects (Boulet LP et al., 1997).

1.4.2 Airway Smooth Muscle

An increase in airway smooth muscle (ASM) mass is commonly observed in asthmatic airways that has been shown through both, examinations of patient airway biopsies and in tissue samples from animal models of allergic asthma (An SS et al., 2007). Studies suggest that this increased ASM mass may be a resultant of hyperplasia which may be attributed to increased rates of division, decreased rates of apoptosis or trans-differentiation of mesenchymal cells to airway smooth muscle bundles (Ebina M et al., 1993; Halayko AJ et al., 2006; Schmidt M et al., 2003; Kuwano K, Bosken CH, and Pare PD, 1993). An increase in ASM cell diameter (hypertrophy) seen in asthmatic airways compared to non-asthmatics may also be a contributing factor to the increase in ASM mass in asthmatics (Hirst SJ et al., 2004; Woodruff PG et al. 2004; Kuwano K, Bosken CH, and Pare PD, 1993). The increased thickness of the airway wall may contribute to damaging the lung parenchyma and decrease their tethering forces, reducing their resistance to subsequent smooth muscle contractions (Elias JA et al., 1999).

1.4.3 Airway Epithelium

A compromised airway epithelium is common in asthmatic individuals. Epithelial damage results in a more fragile airway epithelium and the inability to form an effective barrier against normally innocuous inhaled agents (Knight DA et al., 2010). Creola bodies (clusters of sloughed epithelial cells) have been observed in asthmatic sputa, increased numbers of epithelial cells in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and loss of surface epithelium in biopsy specimens (Jeffery PK, 2001; Knight DA et al., 2010). The asthmatic epithelium displays a loss of columnar, ciliated cells which is coincident with reduced expression of apical junction proteins such as E-cadherin and ZO-1 (Knight DA et al., 2010). The integrity of the airway epithelium is dependent on apical tight junctions and adherens junctions binding epithelial cells together. Reduced expression of Ecadherin, which is a major constituent of adherens junctions, could facilitate allergic sensitization by activating dendritic cells (by the lack of a tonic inhibitory signal commonly released by E-cadherin interactions with dendritic cells and epithelial cells) as well as enhanced thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) production (Lambrecht BN and Hammad H, 2012). T_H2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 have also been shown to disrupt epithelial barrier function, further perpetuating bronchial inflammation. The release of IL-33 and IL-25 by airway epithelial cells further promotes IL-13 production by nuocytes (innate lymphoid cells) (Lambrecht BN and Hammad H, 2012).

It has also been observed that the greater the loss of surface epithelium in biopsy specimens the greater the degree of airway responsiveness, though the loss of epithelium observed in biopsies of mild asthmatics is highly variable and an unreliable end point of determination of extent of injury or the response to treatment (Jeffery PK, 2001).

Goblet cell metaplasia (GCM) and excessive mucus production is also observed, which contribute to mucus plugging and narrowing of the airway lumen (Knight DA et al., 2010). GCM occurs from the proliferation of extant goblet cells as well as the transdifferentiation of ciliated epithelial cells and Clara cells (Lambrecht BN and Hammad H, 2012). As GCM occurs, they abnormally appear in the small airways of asthmatics, compromising mucociliary clearance and contributing to airflow obstruction (Rogers DF, 2003; Warner SM and Knight DA, 2008; Kim KC et al., 1997). GCM is induced by the T_H2 cytokine IL-13 (Zhu Z et al., 1999).

1.5 Vascular Remodeling and Asthma

Airway vasculature necessitates several functional roles in maintaining homeostasis. These roles include provision of oxygen and nutrients, temperature regulation, humidification of inspired air and allowing a conduit for immune cells to defend against airway pathogens (Walters EH et al., 2008). During chronic inflammatory diseases, the airway vasculature promotes the migration of inflammatory cells to the site of inflammation. As the inflammatory disease evolves, the microvasculature undergoes progressive changes to further supply oxygen and nutrients to the proliferating inflamed tissue. These changes include vasodilation, microvascular leakage (a resultant of increased vascular permeability), and increased bronchial vascularity through angiogenesis (Pandya NM, Dhalla NS, and Santani DD, 2006; Walters EH et al., 2008; Wilson JW and Hii S, 2006; Puxeddu I et al., 2005b).

1.5.1 Vascular Permeability and Vasodilation

Increased microvascular permeability leading to oedema is a common feature of airway vascular remodeling in asthma (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a). This increased permeability is thought to be due to the formation of intercellular gaps between endothelial cells (EC) along the bronchial vasculature (McDonald DM, Thurston G, and Baluk P, 1999). This increased vascular permeability may be from the interaction of endothelial cells with inflammatory mediators such as histamine released by activated mast cells (Bradding P and Holgate ST, 1999; Chetta A, et al., 2007). Mast cell activation during an asthmatic exacerbation has been identified to result in plasma leakage and oedema which may contribute to the thickening of the airway, obstruction of air flow and directly increase AHR (Bradding P and Holgate ST, 1999; Wilson JW and Hii S, 2006).

Increased vessel calibre has also been identified in asthmatic lungs (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a; Carroll NG, Cooke C, and James AL, 1997) which, when combined with increased bronchial vascularity, vascular permeability and other indices of airway remodelling mentioned previously (airway fibrosis and airway smooth muscle thickening), contribute to airway occlusion (Wilson JW, Li X, and Pain MC, 1993). Mediators associated with vasodilation include prostanoid mediators released by mast cells, particularly PGD₂ and leukotriene C4 (LTC₄) (Holgate ST, et al., 1991).

1.6 Airway Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis (or neovascularisation) is the sprouting of new blood vessels from extant blood vessels. Classically, this consists of the proliferation of resident endothelial cells which are reorganized into a three-dimensional tubular structure for new vessel outgrowth (Puxeddu I et al., 2005b). However, it has been found that bone marrowderived endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) may also contribute to angiogenesis, as will be further discussed in section 1.8.2 (Asahara T, et al., 1997). During homeostatic conditions, angiogenesis is essential for tissue repair, foetal development and the female reproductive cycle. When uncontrolled, angiogenesis can promote tumor, retinopathies and coronary artery disease (Pandya NM, Dhalla NS, and Santani DD, 2006).

Angiogenesis requires the activity of angiogenic factors (such as the proangiogenic cytokine vascular endothelial growth factor [VEGF] and anti-angiogenic factor angiostatin), extracellular matrix proteins, adhesion receptors, and proteolytic enzymes (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a; Pandya NM, Dhalla NS, and Santani DD, 2006). Under physiologic conditions, this is regulated by a balance between positive and negative angiogenic mediators within the vascular microenvironment where an excess of pro-angiogenic factors promotes new vessel growth whilst a tip in the balance towards anti-angiogenic factors results in the inhibition of angiogenesis.

Angiogenic mediators include members of the FGF family, angiogenin, transformation growth factor (TGF)- α , TGF- β , platelet derived growth factor, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , GM-CSF, angiopoietin 1, angiopoietin 2, and VEGF (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a). Of these mediators, VEGF is the most potent regulator of angiogenesis.

12

Once mature endothelial cells bind to VEGF (or other pro-angiogenic mediators), they release proteases which allow for the degradation of the basement membrane and escape of endothelial cells from the parent vessel. These endothelial cells then proliferate, migrate and interact with several matrix elements including collagen IV, laminin, fibronectin and vitronectin. These elements facilitate additional endothelial cell proliferation and migration as well as re-construction of the vascular basement membrane and tube formation (Carmeliet P, 2005; Wilson JW and Robertson CF, 2002; Wilson JW and Hii S, 2006).

1.6.1 VEGF

VEGF is secreted from pre-existing endothelial cells, a number of inflammatory cells involved in asthma including eosinophils, macrophages and mast cells, as well as from structural cells such as airway smooth muscle (Feltis BN, et al., 2006; Lee CG, et al., 2004; Hasaneen NA et al., 2007; Simcock DE, et al., 2007).

There are 6 isoforms of VEGF (VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₄₅, VEGF₁₆₅, VEGF₁₈₃, VEGF₁₈₉, VEGF₂₀₆), the major forms being VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅, and VEGF₁₈₉. These differ primarily in their bioavailability where VEGF₁₂₁ may diffuse freely in tissues and are easily available for activity whereas half of the secreted VEGF₁₆₅ binds to cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs). HSPGs also provide a reservoir of VEGF₁₈₉ and VEGF₂₀₆ which are completely sequestered, but can be mobilized through proteolysis (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a).

The ability of VEGF to cause endothelial cell proliferation is mediated by signals generated by binding to receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) on endothelial cells. These

high-affinity receptors include VEGFR-1 (Flt-1), VEGFR-2 (Flk/KDR), and VEGFR-3. VEGFR-2 is primarily expressed on endothelial cells and other structural and hematopoietic stem cells. It is the primary receptor transmitting VEGF signals in endothelial cells by binding to VEGF, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D. Sequestration of VEGF results in down-regulation of VEGFR-2 and in apoptotic death of some capillary endothelial cells *in vivo* (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a; Ferrara N, 2002).

In endothelial cells, VEGF promotes secretion of MMP-1, von Willebrand factor (vWF), and expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin (Leung DW et al., 1989). VEGF also acts as a potent survival factor (induces EC expression of anti-apoptotic proteins) and causes vasodilation through the induction of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase and subsequent increase in nitric oxide production. VEGF stimulates monocyte chemotaxis and contributes to hematopoietic stem cell survival and recruitment of bone marrow-derived endothelial cells in angiogenesis. (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a).

Airway angiogenesis has been correlated with airway hyper-responsiveness and is thought to contribute to disease pathology by either supporting the growth of other hyperplastic cells, such as the airway smooth muscle, or contributing to airway thickness by providing additional permeable vasculature, leading to oedema and airflow obstruction (Asosingh K, Swaidani S, and Aronica M, 2007; Carmeliet P, 2005; Chetta A, et al., 2007; Walters EH et al., 2008; Wilson

JW and Hii S, 2006).

1.6.2 Quantification of Blood Vessels

Quantification of airway vessels can be achieved by counting the number of vessels per mm² of bandwidth area surrounding the airway; this ratio is used to describe microvessel density (MVD) (Asosingh K, Swaidani S, and Aronica M, 2007). In vessel enumeration vascular endothelial cells express a variety of markers which can provide a means for their identification, the most commonly used being CD31, collagen IV, CD34 and von Willebrand factor (vWF) (Pusztaszeri MP, Seelentag W, and Bosman FT, 2006). Unfortunately, the expression of these markers is not uniform throughout all vascular beds, and this has been the cause for conflicting findings between studies (Wilson JW and Kotsimbos T, 2003; Wilson JW and Hii S, 2006).

CD31, or PECAM-1 (platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule – 1) is a consistent endothelial cell marker that has particular expression in junctions between adjacent cells. CD31 is a part of the immunoglobulin super-family and has varying functions including roles in angiogenesis, thrombosis and leukocyte migration (Woodfin A, Voisin MB, and Nourshargh S, 2007). Although CD31 is a marker which effectively identifies vessels throughout the vascular tree, it is also expressed on platelets, macrophages, granulocytes, lymphocytes, megakaryocytes, fibroblasts and neutrophils and therefore can illicit confounding variables when used for vessel quantification (Muller AM, et al., 2002a; Woodfin A, Voisin MB, and Nourshargh S, 2007).

Collagen IV, found primarily in the basal lamina has also been used as a consistent marker for vessel identification. Its potential for this use was discovered while examining scar-type collagen in the asthmatic airway (collagens I, III, V) (Li X and

Wilson JW, 1997). Collagen IV, has also been found to detect a larger number of vessels when compared to vWF, but it is possible that this is due to its constitutive expression in the asthmatic airway (Kawanami O, et al., 2000). Despite the reported effectiveness of using Collagen IV in vessel enumeration, we opted not to use this marker in the present study. This decision was based in our objective to reproduce results from previous studies which used von Willebrand factor staining for vessel quantification (Asosingh K, Swaidani S, and Aronica M, 2007; Doyle TM, et al., 2011).

CD34, as will be discussed in detail in section 1.7.1, is a 110-kDA transmembrane glycoprotein which is a well-known progenitor cell marker expressed in endothelial cells (Sutherland DR et al., 1993). It is commonly used as a marker for leukaemia diagnosis (Muller AM et al., 2002a). In the lungs, studies have shown that alveolar capillaries strongly stain for CD34 and the staining intensity does not vary by vessel type or caliber (Pusztaszeri MP, Seelentag W, and Bosman FT, 2006).

1.6.3 von Willebrand Factor

Von Willebrand factor (vWF) is a large glycoprotein that is essential for blood coagulation and vessel wall repair. It is stored in Weibel-Palade bodies within the cytoplasm of endothelial cells, synthesized by both endothelial cells and megakaryocytes and is expressed in both, the sub-endothelial extracellular matrix and in blood plasma (Moroose R and Hoyer LW, 1986). Comparative immunohistochemical staining and confocal laser microscopy of vWF throughout varying calibers of pulmonary vasculature reveal that vWF is a consistent positive marker for all vessels greater than 10µm. This

marker is undetectable in alveolar capillary endothelial cells, but is highly expressed in venules (Kawanami O, et al., 2000; Muller AM et al. 2002b).

The inability of normal alveolar capillary endothelial cells to react with vWF could be related to the increased fenestrations throughout these vessels. These fenestrations are diaphragm-like in structure and contain very little cytoplasm. Since vWF is stored in Weibel-Palade bodies within the cytoplasm of endothelial cells, it follows that, in the absence of cytoplasm, vWF will fail to be stored and expressed (Moroose R and Hoyer LW 1986; Muller AM, et al., 2002a).

vWF has been consistently used for quantification of MVD in asthma studies, and as such was considered to be a good marker for detecting the formation of new vessels in the lungs in the present study (Asosingh K, Swaidani S, and Aronica M, 2007; Kuwano K, Bosken CH, and Pare PD, 1993; Wilson JW and Kotsimbos T, 2003; Doyle TM, et al., 2011).

1.7 Progenitor Cells and Asthma

The adult bone marrow contains pluripotent progenitor cells with the capacity to differentiate into a variety of cell types. These cells can be divided into hematopoietic progenitor cells (give rise to leukocytes, red blood cells and platelets) and non-hematopoietic progenitor cells such as mesenchyme stem cells (MSC), fibrocytes and endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011). Under homeostatic conditions non-hematopoietic progenitor cells contribute to tissue repair, however, under

17

inflammatory conditions their mobilization and activation lead towards lung remodelling (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011).

1.7.1 Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells (HPC)

Hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPC) are highly proliferative, pluripotent cells which can differentiate into granulocytic, erythroid, macrophage or megakaryocyte colony forming units (CFU) (Sehmi R and Denburg JA, 2000). These cells are characterized by high cell surface expression of CD34, an O-sialylated glycophosphoprotein. CD34 is a well-known progenitor cell marker expressed in endothelial cells, BM stromal progenitors and a subset of fibroblasts and dendritic cells (Sutherland DR et al., 1993). While found on progenitor cells, their cell surface expression is progressively lost during cell maturation (Krause DS et al., 1996). To identify HPC through flow cytometry, high CD34 expression is assessed in combination with low CD45 expression, small cell size and low granularity (Carion A, et al., 2002).

CD34⁺CD45⁺ progenitor cells in the peripheral blood and bone marrow are increased in asthmatics when compared to normal individuals (Sehmi R, et al., 1996). It has been suggested that these HPC may contribute to asthma disease pathology through BM hemopoeitic events that result in the release of both mature inflammatory cells and HPC. These cells then traffic to the lung and contribute to airway inflammation by either differentiating immediately *in situ* or by preparing a priming mechanism for future exacerbations (Inman MD et al., 1999; Sehmi R, et al., 1996; Sehmi R and Denburg JA, 2005; Wood LJ et al., 1998). Studies suggest that events within the BM contribute to bronchial inflammatory cell accumulation. Research using canine models of allergen challenge showed that airway neutrophilic inflammation and AHR were associated with an increase in BM progenitor cells of the granulocyte-macrophage colony forming units (GM-CFU) line, which gives rise to neutrophils (Woolley MJ et al., 1994). In another canine model of allergen induced asthma, 5'bromo-3'deoxyuridine (BrdU) was injected into bone marrow to label actively dividing cells. Here it was found that 24hrs following allergen challenge there was a significant increase in BrdU⁺ cells found in the peripheral blood and BAL fluid, suggesting that airway inflammation and AHR was associated with an increase in newly formed cells which may have originated from the BM (Wood LJ et al., 1998).

In mouse models of allergy-induced asthma, airway eosinophilic inflammation and AHR were accompanied by an increase in BM Eosinophil/Basophil (Eo/B)-CFU. Interestingly this study found that despite an increase in airway eosinophilia, 6hrs after allergen challenge BM eosinophils decreased. This increased airway eosinophilia and corresponding reduction in BM eosinophils following allergen challenge further supports the notion that the BM provided a reservoir for bronchial eosinophils which was depleted as demand for these inflammatory cells exceeded the supply (Inman MD, 2000; Ohkawara Y et al., 1997). Additional support for the role of BM-derived HPC in airway inflammation was observed in another mouse model of allergen-induced asthma. Here, airway eosinophilia increased after allergen exposure and BM HPC also increased 24-48hrs after challenge. This suggests that, HPC proliferation may be occurring to restore the depleted supply of eosinophils (Inman MD et al., 1999).

The BM may contribute to asthma disease pathology by releasing progenitor cells which traffic and home to the lung. Stromal derived factor (SDF)-1 α and eotaxin are important mediators driving this process. SDF-1 α , which is described in detail in section 1.8.4, is a chemokine involved in the retention of CD34⁺ cells by interacting with the CXCR4⁺ cell surface receptor and has been shown to be down regulated in the BM of asthmatics, resulting in the egress of progenitors from the BM (Dorman SC et al., 2005; Kucia M et al., 2004). Eotaxin, a chemokine interacting with the CCR3 receptor is also increased in the airways of asthmatics (Brown JR et al., 1998). Together these mediators may interact to promote progenitor cell egress, trafficking and retention within the airways of asthmatics where HPC may differentiate *in situ* into effector cells.

The proposed retention and differentiation of BM-derived HPC within asthmatic airways is supported by studies where CD34⁺ cells which were isolated from atopic nasal tissue differentiated and proliferated *in vitro* into Eo/B-CFU, indicating that progenitors have the potential to differentiate *in situ* (Cameron L et al., 2000). This supports the view that *in situ* differentiation can occur by tissue-resident HPC, that can arrive as a result of the trafficking of CD34⁺ hematopoietic lineage committed progenitors may be released from the bone marrow and traffic to the lung where they may contribute to increasing inflammatory cell populations. This has been supported in human studies which report the activation of progenitor cells within the BM and a resultant increase in progenitor cell numbers within the airways after allergen challenge (Sehmi R, et al., 1997; Wood LJ et al., 1998; Wood LJ et al., 1999; Dorman SC et al., 2005).

The trafficking and *in situ* differentiation of BM derived HPC in the lung has similarly been demonstrated in a mouse model of allergic asthma where CD34⁺CD45⁺IL- $5R\alpha^+$ eosinophil-basophil lineage committed progenitor cells increased within the lung before the development of airway eosinophilia. Interestingly, non-lineage committed CD34⁺CD45⁺ primitive progenitor cells were found to be increased in the lung well after the resolution of inflammatory response (14 days post-allergen challenge). These data suggest that CD34⁺CD45⁺ progenitor cells may not only be supporting airway inflammation, but these cells might be important contributors to structural changes in asthma disease pathology (Southam DS et al., 2004). This aspect was addressed in the current project where we investigated the contribution of bone marrow derived endothelial progenitor cells in the development of airway remodeling and functional changes.

1.7.2 Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSC)

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) are a population of multipotent progenitor cells that can be isolated from many different tissues, including adipose tissue, placenta, skeletal muscle, and the most accessible source, bone marrow (Shi Y et al., 2012; Iyer SS, Co C, Rojas M, 2009). Though they are found in small numbers in the bone marrow (estimated to be 10 MSC per 1 million total bone marrow cells), these cells can be expanded *in vitro* and isolated from non-adherent hematopoietic stem cells and macrophages via trypsinization (Iyer SS, Co C, Rojas M, 2009). MSCs exhibit trilineage differentiation into chondrocytes, osteoblasts, and adipocytes; which is a feature used in their identification (Shi Y et al., 2012; Dominici M et al., 2006). These cells also have

the ability to differentiate into neurons, myocytes, and skeletal muscle (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011).

MSCs are of particular interest in asthma as it has been suggested that they may significantly contribute to collagen deposition and airway smooth muscle hyperplasia (Schmidt M et al., 2003; Singh SR and Hall IP, 2008). Although resident MSC in the bronchial wall were initially thought to be the primary contributors to these features of airway remodeling, recent data suggest that during an asthmatic exacerbation MSC may be migrating from the bone marrow to the lung and also contributing to this pathology (Brewster CE et al., 1990; Bucala R et al., 1994; Gizycki MJ et al., 1997; Phillips RJ et al., 2004; Sacco O et al., 2004).

Though there is not a proper classification system for MSCs, the International Society for Cellular Therapy has proposed that MSCs must express CD105, CD73 and CD90, and lack expression of CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b, CD79 α or CD18 and human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR surface molecules (Dominici M et al., 2006). Also, murine MSCs have recently been shown to be identified as platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) α +Sca-1+CD45⁻TER119⁻ cells (designated P α S cells) (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011).

1.7.3 Fibrocytes

Fibrocytes are mesenchymal progenitor cells found in the BM. Once in the lungs, these cells differentiate into fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, contributing to an increase of fibroblastic foci and airway fibrosis (Andersson-Sjoland A et al., 2008; Schmidt M et al., 2003). Fibrocytes are recruited to the lungs during chronic inflammation and contribute to airway remodelling by producing extracellular matrix molecules such as collagen I and III, vimentin, and fibronectin (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011). *In vitro* studies of fibrocytes isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells show they produce an array of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, macrophage inflammatory protein(MIP)-1 α/β , and VEGF, and they can secrete metalloproteinases (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011). In healthy individuals, fibrocytes compose a minor population of the circulating pool of leukocytes (0.1%-0.5% of total leukocytes). Patients with mild-to-severe asthma exhibit increased levels of circulating fibrocytes in PB when compared with control groups (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011).

Fibrocytes express hematopoietic cell markers (CD34, CD11b, and CD45) as well as produce procollagen I, express CCR2, CCR3, CCR5, CCR7, and CXCR4 (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011). Interestingly they have also been reported to express CXCR4 (Mehrad B, Burdick MD, and Strieter RM, 2009; Phillips RJ et al., 2004), a receptor for Stromal derived factor -1 (SDF-1), a potent chemokine up regulated in the airways and down regulated in the BM of asthmatics (Dorman SC et al., 2005). This factor is suggested to be a key regulator in the trafficking and homing of progenitors to the lung in asthma. The expression of CXCR4 on fibrocytes indicates the potential for these cells to be released from the bone marrow and attracted to lung tissue where they may contribute to disease pathology (Aiuti A et al., 1999; Aiuti A et al., 1997; Lapidot T and Petit I, 2002).

1.8 Endothelial Progenitor Cells

Angiogenesis is essential in repairing tissue damage and in establishing reperfusion of ischemic tissue. It was classically thought to only involve terminally differentiated mature endothelial cells, which have the capacity to migrate, proliferate and form vasculature (Risau W, 1997). However, in 1997 Asahara *et al.* isolated a subpopulation of CD34⁺VEGFR-2⁺ cells from human peripheral blood. These cells adhered to fibronectin and proliferated with the capacity to differentiate into endothelial cells *in vitro*. After 7 days of culture, these cells began to express markers typical of mature endothelial cells, such as vWF and also began to form tube like structures; these cells have been subsequently referred to as endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) (Asahara T, et al. 1997).

1.8.1 EPC Phenotypes and Identification

EPC are phenotypically difficult to isolate from HPC because they express similar markers such as CD34, CD31 and VEGFR-2 (Khakoo AY and Finkel T, 2005). Initially, in order to attempt to characterize EPC, cells were isolated through selection for VEGFR-2 and CD34; however, these markers are also expressed on mature endothelial cells and, when used alone, are ineffective in identifying the population of interest (Levesque JP et al., 2007; Miettinen M, Lindenmayer AE, and Chaubal A, 1994). CD133 is a 5 transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed in cell populations with pluripotent hemopoetic stem cell properties and is not expressed on mature endothelial cells (Yin AH et al., 1997). In addition, several groups have demonstrated that CD133⁺CD34⁺VEGFR-2⁺ cells have a high proliferative capacity and develop into endothelial like colonies.
Since mice have been found not to express CD133 other markers in murine models are used to identify EPC. These markers are stem-cell antigen-1 (Sca-1) which has consistently been used as a primitive marker for stem cells in mice only (Holmes C and Stanford WL, 2007), c-kit which is a cytokine receptor for stem cell factor and VEGFR-2 (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor-2). Cells expressing Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺ have been consistently characterized as EPC (Asosingh K, Swaidani S, and Aronica M, 2007; Peichev M et al., 2000; Doyle TM, et al., 2011) and this phenotype was used to identify EPC in the current study, whilst Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺ cells were identified as primitive progenitor cells.

EPCs can also be divided into two subsets: early outgrowth EPCs (EOG-EPCs) derived from hematopoetic lineage, and late outgrowth EPCs (LOG-EPCs). EOG-EPCs are detected as colonies after 5 days of culture, exhibiting spindle-shaped morphology and have characteristics of both endothelial and monocytic cells. These cells express the leukocyte markers CD45, CD11c, and CD14, and the endothelial markers CD31 and VEGFR-2. LOG-EPCs are observed in colony assays after 21 days in culture and exhibit cobblestone morphology that is characteristic of mature endothelial cells. These express the endothelial markers VEGFR-2, vWF, CD34, and CD31, but do not express monocytic markers (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011).

1.8.2 EPC and Angiogenesis

The contribution of EPCs to angiogenesis have primarily been studied with respect to tumor angiogenesis, models of ischemia/reperfusion injury, and in bone marrow transplantation studies (Jones CP and Rankin SM, 2011; Khakoo AY and Finkel

T, 2005). Recently, the role of bone marrow derived EPCs in increased bronchial vascularity has also been assessed in human and mouse models (Asosingh, Swaidani, Aronica, and Erzurum, 2009; Doyle TM et al., 2011).

In human studies, CD133⁺CD34⁺VEGFR-2⁺cells have been implicated as a contributing factor in angiogenesis both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. When first investigated, cultured isolated cells from human peripheral blood not only demonstrated morphological characteristics of mature endothelial cells after one week, but also expressed vWF and decreased expression of CD133 thus suggesting a differentiation of EPC into mature cells (Hristov M, Erl W, and Weber PC, 2003). In addition, when plated on fibronectin, these cells began to form tube like structures which resembled vasculature. This differentiation and contribution to angiogenesis was further demonstrated *in vivo*, by injecting a bolus of human CD133⁺CD34⁺VEGFR-2⁺ cells into a mouse model of hind-limb ischemia. Here it was found that a significant fraction of capillaries in the reperfused limb were of human origin, suggesting an essential role of EPCs in post natal vasculogenesis (Asahara T et al., 1999).

EOG-EPCs are not believed to directly form new vessels, but they have been shown to secrete key pro-angiogenic factors, such as VEGF-A, SDF-1, and insulin-like factor-1. therefore suggested that thev growth and is mav promote angiogenesis/vasculogenesis through a paracrine mechanism (Yoder MC and Ingram DA, 2009). LOG-EPCs possess the ability to form vessels in vitro and in vivo (in lung and heart models) (Yoder MC and Ingram DA, 2009). Thus, EPCs may contribute to angiogenesis in two ways: 1) by *in situ* differentiation and incorporation into new vessel

26

formation (LOG-EPCs) or 2) by promoting angiogenesis through the release of proangiogenic factors (EOG-EPCs).

1.8.3 Mobilization of EPC

It has been further demonstrated that EPC can be mobilised from the bone marrow and the traffic to sites of injury. This was first examined by transplanting bone marrows from transgenic mice which expressed β -galactosidase encoded by *lacZ* under the endothelial cell specific tyrosine-kinase promoter, Tie-2 (Schlaeger TM et al., 1995) into FVB/N wild-type mice. These mice were then given injections of VEGF, and experienced injury to the cornea. 6 days following ischemia β -galactosidase expression was observed in the cornea indicating migration of endothelial lineage-committed cells from the bone marrow to the site of tissue injury (Leung DW et al. 1989). Also, a significantly greater number of BM-derived EPC were observed in the corneas of VEGF treated mice, suggesting an essential role of this growth factor in the migration of EPC to injured sites (Asahara T et al., 1999).

VEGF has also been found to be increased in hypoxic tissues, tumours, and recently the brochoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of asthmatics (Banai S et al., 1994; Hoshino M, Nakamura Y, and Hamid QA, 2001; Lee CG, et al., 2004; Lee YC and Lee HK, 2001). VEGF has been shown to contribute to endothelial cell survival by inducing the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins and increase vascular permeability (Brown LF et al., 1995; Gerber HP, Dixit V, and Ferrara N, 1998). In addition, as mentioned above, VEGF has also been shown to promote EPC chemotaxis, however recent studies examining the ability of VEGF to recruit bone marrow derived EPC to tumour

vasculature have suggested that increasing secreted amounts of VEGF was not sufficient to mobilise bone marrow derived EPC, this suggests that other chemotactic factors are necessary for adequate mobilisation and recruitment (Larrivee B et al., 2005).

SDF-1 α has also been demonstrated to be a potent chemotactic factor for EPC (Yamaguchi J et al., 2003) which (along with vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 [VCAM-1/CD106]) has been shown to be essential in retention of EPC and other CD34⁺ progenitor cells in the bone marrow (Aiuti A et al., 1997; Ratajczak MZ and Kim C, 2012). However, in times of asthma exacerbations SDF-1 is down-regulated in the BM (Dorman SC et al., 2005; Balabanian K et al., 2005; Aiuti A et al., 1997) and correspondingly increased in the blood (Dorman SC et al., 2005) and airways (Southam et al., 2004).

1.8.4 SDF-1a/CXCR4 Axis

SDF-1, a CXC chemokine, has two forms- SDF-1 α and SDF-1 β of which SDF-1 α is a proven potent chemoattractant for CD34⁺ cells (Faber A et al., 2007; Aiuti A et al., 1999). Many studies have suggested that the interaction of SDF-1 α and its primary receptor, the G-protein coupled, seven-transmembrane-spanning receptor CXCR4, is critical for the retention of progenitor cells in the bone marrow. During an asthmatic exacerbation, however, the SDF-1 α /CXCR4 axis is downregulated in the BM initiating the mobilization and release of progenitor cells into peripheral circulation. Progenitor cells are then directed towards the lungs via the eotaxin/CCR3 axis, where their resultant lung-homing takes place in the presence of up-regulated SDF-1 α expression in the airways. (Sehmi R et al., 2003; Catalli AE et al., 2008; Dorman SC et al., 2005; Lapidot T and Petit I, 2002; Southam DS et al., 2004; Doyle TM et al, 2011).

Emerging evidence also suggests a possible heterodimerization of CXCR7 and CXCR4 which also produces a functional receptor to SDF-1 α (Levoye A et al., 2009). However, CXCR7 has been shown not to be a primary receptor, but instead regulates access of SDF-1 α to CXCR4 via scavenger activity (Ratajczak MZ and Kim C, 2012).

1.8.5 EPC and Asthma

Studies have shown that there is an increase of circulating EPC in the peripheral blood of asthmatics with a greater proliferative potential than EPC from normals. As well, a previous study by our lab had shown that in a mouse model of asthma, following chronic ovalbumin (OVA) challenge there was a correlation between lung-extracted EPC, airway angiogenesis and airway resistance Also, modulation of EPC traffic into the lungs resulted in a decrease of these indices (Doyle TM et al., 2011). In an acute OVA challenge mouse model, EPC accumulation within the lungs was also found to be an early remodelling (as early as 12 hours after OVA challenge) event and preceded angiogenesis (24-48 hours) and airway eosinophilia (>2 days) (Asosingh K, Swaidani S, and Aronica M, 2007). These data support the view that bone marrow derived EPC are involved in asthma disease pathology, and that modulating EPC activity may result in the attenuation of this pathology.



Figure 1: Lung Recruitment of Endothelial Progenitor Cells in an Allergic Asthmatic Response

1.9 Proposed Treatment and Confounding Factors

1.9.1 AMD 3100

AMD3100 is a CXCR4 antagonist which was originally developed as a treatment to prevent the entry of HIV into T-cells (De Clercq E et al., 1994; Schols D et al., 1997). It has since been shown to only interact with CXCR4 and effectively prevent SDF- 1α /CXCR4 interactions, thereby inhibiting the migration of CXCR4⁺ cells to this chemokine (Hatse S et al., 2002).

When administered as intraperitoneal bolus injections of 10mg/kg to allergen challenged sensitized mice, AMD 3100 attenuated lung inflammation and AHR (Lukacs NW et al., 2002). In addition, since EPC are CXCR4⁺, AMD 3100 mediated blocking of this receptor has been shown to inhibit EPC migration, proliferation and survival *in vitro* (Zheng H et al., 2007).

Our lab has previously shown that intranasally administered AMD3100-mediated blocking of the CXCR4⁺ receptor resulted in inhibition of EPC accumulation in the lung as well as attenuation in lung inflammation, bronchial vascularity and AHR (Doyle TM et al., 2011). However, since SDF-1 α is also an eosinophil chemoattractant (Lukacs NW et al., 2002), it remains unclear whether AMD3100 works directly to attenuate EPC lung accumulation or indirectly through its anti-inflammatory effects on eosinophils.

1.9.2 Potential role of Eosinophils in EPC mobilization and Angiogenesis

In addition to their roles in airway inflammation, eosinophils have also been observed to regulate airway remodelling. In severe asthmatics, thickening of the subepithelial basement membrane was associated with increases in bronchial eosinophils (Puxeddu I et al., 2005b). Also, when treated with anti-IL-5 to reduce eosinophil numbers, asthmatics had a reduced expression of ECM proteins in the reticular basement membrane (Flood-Page P et al., 2003).

Eosinophils also have the potential to induce neovascularization. Indirectly, they synthesize and store in their granules several pro-angiogenic mediators, such as VEGF, FGF-2, TNF- α , GM-CSF, nerve growth factor (NGF), IL-8, and eotaxin and are positively stained for VEGF and FGF-2 (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a).

Most studies have focused on the correlation between VEGF levels and eosinophilia (Hoshino M, Nakamura Y, Hamid QA, 2001; Asai K et al., 2003; Nishigaki Y et al., 2003). However, a study by Puxeddu *et al.* has also observed a direct contribution of eosinophils to angiogenesis without VEGF where they enhance endothelial proliferation and induce a strong angiogenic response. In this study assessing rat aortic endothelial cell proliferation *in vitro* and aorta sprouting *ex vivo* as well as angiogenesis in the chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane *in vivo*, it was found peripheral blood eosinophils enhanced endothelial cell proliferation and induced angiogenesis. Pre-incubation of eosinophil sonicates with anti-vascular endothelial growth factor antibodies only partially reduced the angiogenic response in the chorioallantoic membrane suggesting that eosinophil-derived granule proteins (EPO and LTC₄) may play a role in promoting angiogenesis (2005b).

We propose that the mechanism of bone marrow-derived EPC recruitment into the lungs is mediated through the SDF-1 α /CXCR4 axis and this precedes and contributes to airway angiogenesis, development of AHR and airway eosinophilia. Treatment with AMD3100 is expected to attenuate these factors of airway remodelling by directly inhibiting EPC recruitment into the lungs. However, there is the possibility that AMD3100 mediated inhibition of SDF-1 α chemotactic activity directly attenuates airway eosinophilia resulting in an indirect attenuation in EPC lung accumulation and angiogenesis. To investigate the role that eosinophils may play in EPC-derived angiogenesis the current study utilized a well described transgenic mouse strain that is devoid of eosinophils (PHIL +/+ mice) (Lee JJ, et al., 2004), subjected this strain to a

32

chronic allergen mouse model and assessed for the indices of airway inflammation, lungextracted EPC, bronchial vascularity, and airway responsiveness.

1.10 Mouse Model of Asthma

Asthma is a uniquely human disease with the exception of asthma-like diseases in cats (eosinophilic bronchitis) and horses (heaves) (Holmes AM, Solari R, Holgate ST, 2011). Though human models would be the ideal experimental standard to elucidate this multi-factorial disease, obvious ethical restrictions prevent this from happening. Although not identical to mechanisms in human asthma, the mouse model of asthma has become the most widely used alternative in disease research. Mice are easy to breed, maintain and handle, have a vast array of specific reagents available for analysis of cellular and mediator responses, and have genetically engineered transgenic or gene-knockout varieties available for modelling airway disease (Holmes AM, Solari R, Holgate ST, 2011).

1.10.1 Mouse Strain

In this study we utilized female wild-type (WT) BALB/c mice as well as eosinophil deficient PHIL (+/+) mice bred on a BALB/c background. To create PHIL mice, Lee *et al.* selected the promoter region of eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) to incorporate the expression of a cytocidal protein. This promoter region was chosen as the upstream sequences from the mouse EPO gene were found to be capable of supporting high-level expression unique to eosinophil lineage-committed cells. In these transgenic mice, an open reading frame for the cytocidal protein, diphtheria toxin A, was inserted into the promoter region of EPO. Expression of the DTA chain results in the catalytic degradation of elongation factor-2 and subsequent collapse of protein synthesis, in turn causing eosinophil ablation. Assessment of circulating leukocytes in PHIL mice confirm they have a full complement of hemopoietic cells (lymphocytes, monocytes, and neutrophils) aside from eosinophils (Lee JJ et al., 2004).

1.10.2 Allergens utilized in Mouse Models of Asthma

Antigen sensitisation and challenge protocols inducing T_H2 -type inflammation in the lung can be customized to specific endpoints to assess inflammation and lung function, and by acute or chronic aspects of asthma to be modelled (Holmes AM, Solari R, Holgate ST, 2011). Traditional protocols used ovalbumin (OVA) with adjuvant (usually intraperitoneal alum) followed by inhalation antigen challenge to produce an acute asthma-like phenotype that focuses on T_H2 inflammatory mechanisms that links to manifestations of established asthma in humans (Holmes AM, Solari R, Holgate ST, 2011). OVA is commonly used as a surrogate allergen in research because it is easily available (Zosky et al., 2007). OVA exposure (i.n.) to naïve mice requires incorporation into a chemical adjuvant (aluminum hydroxide) and systemic administration during the sensitization phase. Once subjects are sensitized to the OVA+adjuvant, subsequent airway challenge to OVA can elicit the asthma-like phenotype (airway remodeling, airway inflammation, and AHR) (Nials AT and Uddin S, 2008). A great disadvantage to using OVA is that it fails to model the natural process of asthma as adjuvants may alter the mechanism of sensitization to allergen (Zosky GR and Sly PD, 2007). Also, when sensitisation and challenge is attempted only though the airways, tolerance to OVA is observed with only slight bronchial inflammation and mild AHR, which are not sufficient to imply an asthma-like phenotype (Nials AT and Uddin S, 2008).

In an effort to better simulate the chronic nature of human asthma, models have been developed using more physiologically relevant antigens, such as house dust mite (HDM) which is utilized in the current study. HDM, an aeroallergen, has a multitude of components that contribute to its allergenicity and promotion of airway inflammation. The major allergen, Der p 1, is a cysteine protease which cleaves intracellular tight junctions of the bronchial epithelium, allowing for the delivery of allergen from airway lumen to submucosal antigen-presenting cells (dendritic cells) and allergen sensitization (Gregory LG and Lloyd CM, 2011). Once HDM particles are in the lung, macrophages are stimulated to produce IL-6 (enhances $T_H 2$ differentiation and proliferation of memory T_{H2} cells (Robinson DS, 2010)), TNF- α (a chemoattractant for neutrophils and eosinophils (Berry et al., 2007)), and nitric oxide (Sjöbring U and Taylor JD, 2007). In vitro studies have also shown purified HDM extracts Der p 1, 3, and 9 together induce production of GM-CSF which can promote eosinophil production (Gauvreau GM et al., 2005), IL-6, IL-8, and eotaxin from bronchial epithelial cells (Sjöbring U and Taylor JD, 2007).

1.11 Hypothesis

We hypothesize that the mobilization, lung-homing and in-situ differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells in allergic asthmatic response is independent of eosinophilic inflammation.

1.12 Specific Questions:

- 1. Are eosinophils required for allergen-induced lung accumulation of EPC and angiogenic responses in a mouse model of asthma?
- 2. Does AMD3100 act independently of eosinophils to attenuate lung accumulation of EPC, angiogenesis, and airway hyperresponsive lung function?

1.13 Aims:

- 1. In a mouse HDM exposure model of asthma we will determine whether allergen challenge induces progenitor cell traffic, airway inflammatory and remodelling changes comparable to the previously established OVA challenge model.
- Using eosinophil deficient (PHIL) mice, the role of eosinophils in lung homing of EPC angiogenic responses and airway dysfunction will be investigated.
- 3. Using PHIL mice, we will determine the effect of treatment with AMD3100 on lung homing of EPC and angiogenic responses in the absence of eosinophils.

1.14 Scientific Impact

Asthma is a multifaceted disease associated with recurrent inflammatory episodes and tissue remodeling within the lung. Although inflammation of the airway is an essential component in initiating and perpetuating an asthma exacerbation, current antiinflammatory therapies have been largely unsuccessful in completely reversing disease airflow obstruction. There is now considerable evidence that asthma is not merely a local inflammatory disease confined to the lung, but has a systemic element that includes activation of hemopoeitic events in the bone marrow leading to the mobilization of progenitors and recent evidence suggests that these progenitors may contribute to structural changes of the airway. Although it is further suggested that vascular remodelling is a critical component of asthma disease pathology, a current lack of understanding regarding the mechanisms of airway angiogenesis prevents utilizing this knowledge towards treatment development.

In this study, the information gained from using AMD3100 to modulate endothelial progenitor cell homing and differentiation will reveal the effect of local antiangiogenic delivery in the development of lung pathology and airway dysfunction in asthma. Furthermore, this study will provide information pertaining to the role of eosinophils a major effector cell in asthma, in progenitor cell accumulation within the lung, relevant tissue remodelling changes, and airway hyperresponsiveness. In addition, this project will also allow further understanding of the mechanisms involved in airway angiogenesis and the role of bone marrow derived progenitor cells in asthma pathology and development of airway dysfunction.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Animals

Female BALB/c and *PHIL* eosinophil deficient mice (BALB/c background) were bred and maintained in a pathogen-free environment. *PHIL* eosinophil-deficient male mice (8th generation BALB/c background; courtesy of Dr. J.J. Lee) were mated with WT BALB/c females (8 week old; Charles River Laboratories, Ottawa, ON). Female PHIL eosinophil-deficient mice (8 week old) and WT littermate controls were kept in a pathogen-free environment. All procedures were reviewed and approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board at McMaster University (Hamilton, ON, Canada).

2.2 Allergen exposure and Treatment Intervention

2.2.1 Chronic Allergen Exposure

Mice (PHIL or WT; $n\approx 10/\text{group}$) were sensitized with intranasal (*i.n.*) doses of $15\mu g/\mu l$ house dust mite (HDM) administered for 2 weeks, 5 consecutive days each week as described by Southam et al., 2007. Mice were subsequently challenged with *i.n.* doses of $15\mu g/\mu l$ HDM 3 times a week for 6 weeks. Control mice followed an identical model of exposure but were administered 25 μl saline (SAL) *i.n.* instead of HDM (Figure 2).

2.2.2 Treatment Regimen

Mice were treated *i.n.* with an optimal dose of 15 mg/kg AMD3100 previously established in pilot experiments by Doyle et al (see Appendix B) as the lowest dose capable of preventing allergen-induced increases in airway vascularity in a brief ovalbumin (OVA) exposure protocol. Treatment was administered to mice (n= 7-10 per group) during the challenge period of the chronic exposure period 4 h before each

allergen challenge 3 times a week for 6 weeks (Figure 2A). Refer to figure 2B for all treatment groups.

A

Allergen intranasal Exposure Schedule



n=10 /treatment group

HDM or SAL delivered i.n. 15µg/25µl (750µg/kg) on indicated days i.e. 5 times a week for first 2 weeks and 3 times a week for the following 6 weeks. Outcomes, 24h post final exposure on day 56.

AMD3100 delivered i.n. 20µl (15mg/kg) to specified groups starting from the 3rd week 3 times a week for 6 weeks. Drug given 4 hours prior to HDM or SAL delivery.

Outcomes
-Lung EPC (FACS)
-MVD Immunostaining
-BAL Airway Inflammation
-Tissue Eosinophilia (H&E)
-MCh Responsiveness
-Collagen Deposition (PSR)

٦	r	٦	
	ŀ	÷	
	L	J	
1	-		

		Treatment		
Group	Mouse	Sensitization	Challenge	
Α	WT	SAL	SAL	
В	WT	HDM	HDM	
С	PHIL	SAL	SAL	
D	PHIL	HDM	HDM	
Ε	WT	HDM	AMD/HDM	
F	PHIL	SAL	AMD/SAL	
G	PHIL	HDM	VEH/HDM	
Н	PHIL	HDM	AMD/HDM	

Figure 2: Allergen exposure protocol. (A) Intranasal (i.n.) sensitization with HDM or SAL for the first 2 weeks is followed by i.n. challenges with HDM or SAL for the remaining 6 weeks as indicated. During the challenge period, AMD3100 is administered i.n. 4 hours prior to HDM or SAL delivery for selected groups. Outcomes are made 24h following final exposure. (B) Table of specific groups indicating the treatments given during sensitization (Week 1-2) and challenge (Week 3-8).

2.3 Airway Responsiveness

Airway responsiveness to intranasal methacholine was measured based on the response of airway resistance using the FlexiVent ventilator system (SCIREQ, Montreal, QC, Canada).

Mice were given 20mg/ml Xylazine by IP injection at an approximate dose of 10mg/kg. Following 10 minutes, mice were administered 54.7mg/ml pentobarbital by IP injection at 10ml/g_{mouse}. After 10 minutes, mice were placed on the FlexiVent ventilator system. Pancuronium bromide at 2mg/ml was then used as a paralytic, given through IP injection at 20mg/kg.

2.3.1 Airway Physiology

Airway responsiveness was assessed by measuring total respiratory resistance to saline and progressively increasing intranasal doses of 0, 3.1, 6.3, 12.5, 25, and 50mg/ml of methacholine (MCh) which were continuously recorded with a FlexiVent ventilator system.

The mouse trachea was exposed, cannulated with an 18 gauge needle and connected to the ventilator. An ear probe was placed on the hindlimb of the mouse and heart rate and oxygen saturation were monitored via infrared pulse oxymetry. A script for data collection was then started with PEEP levels set at 2cmH2O. Once ventilated and stabilized, progressive doses of 0, 3.1, 6.3, 12.5, 25, and 50mg/ml of MCh were delivered as a mist inhaled into the lungs via nebulizer.

Utilizing QuickSnap-150, the total resistance and elastance were calculated and airway responsiveness was assessed by the maximal resistance produced by the MCh challenge. Airway reactivity was measured by the slope of the linear regression between peak respiratory system resistance and log10 of the MCh using 3.1, 6.3, 12.5, and 25mg/ml doses.

2.4 Bronchoalveolar Lavage

2.4.1 BAL Fluid Collection

In anaesthetized mice, the trachea was exposed and cannulated using a blunted 18 gauge needle. Two boluses of 250µl phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) were injected using a 16G needle. Following 5 seconds, the cell emulsion was withdrawn and BAL fluid centrifuged for 10 minutes at 150g.

The cell pellet was then resuspended in PBS and a sample of cells were stained using a 1:1 ratio of trypan blue (Sigma Oakville, Ontario, Canada). Total cell count was performed using a hemocytometer with calculations as follows:

Number of Cells/ml= (# cells counted) x (dilution factor) x 1000 x (# quadrants counted)

2.4.2 Cytospin Preparation and Cell Staining

The cell emulsion was then diluted with PBS to 5 x 10^5 cells/ml and cytocentrifuge slides were prepared as two slides per mouse and dried for 24 hours. Cells were then fixed using methanol, air dried and stained with 2 drops of Wright Giemsa (Sigma Oakville, Ontario, Canada) for 2 minutes and thoroughly mixed with 3 drops of distilled water and left for 3 $\frac{1}{2}$ minutes. Slides were rinsed with distilled water and air

dried. Following this, cell differential counts were carried out using morphologic and histologic criteria. As each mouse had 2 slides created, 200 cells were counted per slide and the average of the two were determined per mouse. Cells were morphologically identified as eosinophils, neutrophils, lymphocytes or macrophages.

2.5 Progenitor Cell Isolation

2.5.1 Cell Isolation from Lung Tissue

In anesthetized mice the thoracic cavity was opened by blunt dissection exposing the pulmonary organs. The lungs were then perfused with a 10μ l/ml heparin solution via injection of the right ventricle closest to the apex of the heart. Following this, the descending aorta was cut and perfusion of the lung was allowed for either 1 minute or until lungs became whitish.

After perfusion was complete, the thymus and bronchiolar lymph nodes were removed and the heart and lungs were removed from the chest cavity. The right lung was tied off with 3.0 suture string (Johnson and Johnson Medical, Markham ON), separated and was transferred into 3ml warm digestion buffer containing 300U/ml collagenase, 50U/ml DNAse I, and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma Oakville, Ontario Canada) diluted into RPMI (Gibco Burlington, Ontario Canada). The right lung was then homogenized further by mincing and incubated in the digestion buffer for 90 minutes at 37^oC. Cells released from the lung digest were then filtered through a 52µm nylon mesh to rid the filtrate of larger tissue and debris. The filtrate was then topped up to 5ml with cold wash buffer consisting of RPMI enriched with 1% FBS and 1%

Penicillin/Streptomycin to promote cell viability and prevent bacterial growth respectively. The cells where then collected in a pellet by centrifugation at 1300rpm (Heraeus Instruments Megafuge 1.0R), 4^oC for 10 minutes. The cell pellet was then resuspended in 6ml wash buffer and layered onto 3ml of Histopaque 1083 (Sigma Oakville, Ontario, Canada) at room temperature which then isolated the mononuclear cells were isolated by density gradient centrifugation at 2400rpm (Heraeus Instruments Megafuge 1.0) , 25^oC for 20 minutes, no brakes. The mononuclear cell interface was removed and washed with wash buffer at 1300rpm (Heraeus Instruments Megafuge 1.0R), 4^oC, 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 0.5-3ml wash buffer determined by the pellet size.

A cell count was performed on a sample of the isolated mononuclear cells using a 1:1 dilution of trypan blue. The Countess Cell Counter system (Invitrogen Burlington, Ontario Canada) was used to determine the total number of cells/ml as well as percent viability.

2.5.2 Cell Staining and Flow Cytometric Analysis

Cells were washed in 1ml PBS/NaN3 at 1300rpm (Heraeus Instruments Megafuge 1.0R), 4^oC, 5 minutes and were incubated with Fc block dilution (eBioscience, San Diego, CA) for 20 minutes at 4^oC. The cells were then stained and incubated for 40 minutes at 4^oC with Sca-1-FITC, c-kit-PE, VEGFR2-APC or isotype control. Following this, the cells were washed in 2ml PBS/NaN3 at 1300rpm (Heraeus Instruments Megafuge 1.0R), 4^oC, 5 minutes and resuspended/fixed in 300µl 1% PFA and kept in the

43

dark at 4^oC until enumerated by flow cytometry. Specific stains and compensation tubes were organized as described in Table 1.

Tube	Fc Block	Mab
PBS	100 μl	-
c-kit – PE	95 μl	5μΙ
Sca-1-FITC/ VEGFR2- APC	92.5µl	2.5µl FITC+ 5µl APC
lgG2a-FITC/2b-PE/lgG2a – APC	87.5µl	2.5µl FITC + 5 µl APC + 5µl PE
Sca-1-FITC/c-kit-PE/VEGFR2-APC	87.5µl	2.5µl FITC + 5 µl PE + 5µl APC

Table Fc Block and Antibody (Mab) proportions used in compensation tubes and specific stains for FACS staining

Stained Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺ cells and Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺ cells were analyzed by using a FACS Caliber flow cytometer. A four step gating strategy was used which began by tracing region 1 (R1) on a dot plot of Sca-1+ cells vs. Linear side light scatter (SSC) around all nucleated white blood cells while excluding red blood cells and contaminants. Quadrants were arranged based on isotype-matched control staining. Double positive cells were defined as gate R2 and total primitive Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺ cells were calculated by multiplying this percentage by the total amount of cells counted after histopaque separation. Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺ cells that also positively expressed VEGFR-2⁺ were defined in gate R3. Absolute numbers of cells were calculated from this percentage multiplied by total cell count after separation using the histopaque gradient.

2.6 Immunohistochemistry

Following perfusion with the previously noted heparin solution, the right lung was tied off with suture string and removed for EPC collection while the left lung was formalin fixed for 24 hours and paraffin embedded. Transverse lung sections of $3\mu m$ were then mounted onto poly-1-lysine coated slides and dried overnight. Slides were then backed at $72^{\circ}C$ for 40 minutes within 24 hours prior to staining.

2.6.1 von Willebrand Factor

To remove wax and rehydrate tissue, slide were passed through 3 changes of xylene (5 minutes each) followed by 3 changes of 100% ethanol (1 minute each). The tissue was incubated for 30 minutes in a methanol solution (200ml methanol, 10ml 30% H_2O_2 and 0.5ml concentrated HCL) and then brought to water by passing the tissue through 100%, 95%, and 70% ethanol (1 minute each) and washed in running tap water (5 minutes). Tissue was rinsed in distilled water for 1 minute and circled with a hydrophobic pen to keep solutions on the tissue and kept hydrated with tris-buffered saline (TBS). Following this, the tissue was incubated for 6 minutes with protease K solution for antigen retrieval, washed and incubated with protein block serum-free solution for 5 minutes. Slides were drained and incubated for 60 minutes with the primary antibody, von Willebrand factor (DAKO Burlington, Ontario, Canada) in a dilution of 1:600 in PBS. Slides were then washed with TBS (3 times for 5 minutes) and incubated for 20 minutes with the secondary biotinylated goat anti-rabbit antibody (Invitrogen Oakville, Ontario, Canada), washed again with TBS (3 times for 5 minutes) and incubated for 20 minutes with streptavidin peroxidise conjugate (Invitrogen Oakville, Ontario, Canada). Slides were then washed with TBS (3 times for 5 minutes) and had AEC chromogen added for 10 minutes, washed in running tap water and counterstained with Mayer's Haematoxylin for no more than 30 seconds. Slides were then washed with running tap water for 2 minutes, placed in TBS for 1 minute to blue nuclei, washed in running tap water for 1 minute, and transferred to distilled water. Slides were cover slipped with Faramount liquid media and allowed to dry.

All slides were analyzed using Northern Eclipse software. The main airway in the lung section was identified and traced to create a 50µm bandwidth area from the airway in which to count vessels. Only vessels 10µm diameter or less were included in vessel quantification and microvessel density (MVD) was calculated by dividing the total number of counted vessels by the bandwidth area.

2.6.2 Picrosirius red staining (Collagen Staining)

Slides of lung tissue were prepared as for immunohistochemistry. Slides were then rehydrated through successive passes through xylene followed by ethanol. Slides were then stained with Celestine blue for 5 minutes followed by a rinse and staining in hematoxylin for 5 minutes. Slides were then washed in Tris buffer and stained in Sirius red for 1 hour. They were then washed in acidified water and dried. Slides were then dehydrated through three changes of ethanol and xylene and then mounted with permount resinous medium.

Lung sections were examined using a polarized lens and analyzed with Northern Eclipse software. A 29.7µm bandwidth surrounding the main airway was traced and images were converted to black and white, where the positive stained area appeared

white. The Northern Eclipse software then analyzed the percentage of white area within the traced bandwidth.

2.6.3 Haematoxylin and Eosin (enumeration of lung eosinophils)

Slides of lung tissue were prepared as for immunohistochemistry. Slides were then stained with Haematoxylin for 10 minutes, rinsed and stained in Tris buffer for 1 minute to blue nuclei. Slides were then washed again and quickly dipped into 1% acid alcohol followed by another rinse and wash in Tris buffer. Slides were then rinsed in distilled water and stained in 0.5% Eosin for 5 minutes, washed, dehydrated through three changes of ethanol and xylene and then mounted with permount resinous medium.

2.7 Statistical Analysis

In the text and figure legends, data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Data analysis was completed using STATSTICA software (Statsoft, Tulsa, OK, USA) to perform ANOVAs; post-hoc analyses for between groups comparisons were performed using Duncan's test. Type 1 error probability (α) was set at 0.05.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 HDM Chronic Exposure Model in WT Mice

Our group has previously utilized an ovalbumin (OVA) exposure model to investigate the role of bone marrow-derived progenitor cells in the development of lung remodeling changes in a mouse model of asthma. House dust mite (HDM) is a more relevant allergen to human asthma and thus the aim of my study was to investigate the effect of HDM exposure in BALB/c mice on lung accumulation of progenitor cells and tissue remodeling events. Treatment with AMD3100, previously shown to inhibit progenitor cell lung-homing (Doyle TM et al., 2011) was included to investigate effects of modulating progenitor cell traffic on, bronchial vascularity, inflammation and methacholine (MCh) airway resistance following allergen challenge. Airway fibrosis was also assessed as a secondary outcome measure.

3.1.1 Lung-extracted progenitor cell numbers and drug effects

Lung-extracted progenitor cell numbers were enumerated by flow cytometry. Primitive progenitor cell (PC; Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺) populations were significantly increased in HDM group compared to SAL group (HDM: 42 716±7 458 vs. SAL: 12 306±2 495 cells, p<0.0001). Treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated PC levels compared to HDM group bringing the numbers down to SAL levels (HDM: 42 716±7 458 vs. AMD: 12 402±4 002 cells, p<0.0001) (Figure 3A). Similar trends were also seen in EPC (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺), where HDM exposure significantly increased EPC numbers (HDM: 33 156±5 596 vs. SAL: 7 597±1 813 cells, p<0.0001) and treatment with AMD3100 attenuated these values to SAL levels (HDM: 33 156 \pm 5 596 vs. AMD: 7 020 \pm 2 627cells, p<0.0001) (Figure 3B).



Figure 3: WT (n=10/group) (A) Total primitive progenitor (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺) and (B) Total endothelial progenitor (EPC) (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺) cell populations in lung samples 24hrs post allergen challenge enumerated by flow cytometry. HDM exposed mice had a significantly increased number of primitive progenitor cells which was attenuated to SAL levels in the AMD3100 group. EPCs were also significantly increased in the HDM group when compared to SAL and treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated this to SAL levels. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.1.2 Bronchial vascularity and drug effects

Bronchial vascularity was assessed by immunostaining for von Willebrand factor (vWF), quantifying the number of vessels within a 50 μ m diameter width around the main airway and determining the microvessel density (MVD) including vessels of $\leq 10\mu$ m. MVD was significantly increased in the HDM group compared to SAL group (HDM: 166.137±21.71 vs. SAL: 59.879±10.66 vessels/mm², p<0.0001). Treatment with AMD3100 attenuated MVD compared to HDM group (AMD: 110.811±17.34 vessels/mm² vs. HDM: 166.137±21.71, p<0.01) but were not completely reversed to SAL levels (AMD: 110.811±17.34 vessels/mm² vs. SAL: 59.879±10.66, p<0.05) (Figure 4).



Figure 4: WT mice (n=10/group) (A) Microvessel Density (MVD) as measured by von Willebrand factor staining (vWF) - images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 40X magnification. (B) Vessels counted were 10 μ m or less (arrows) in a 50 μ m bandwidth area around the main airway. MVD was significantly higher in the HDM group compared to SAL. Treatment with AMD3100 attenuated MVD, though not to SAL levels (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.1.3 Airway inflammation and drug effects via BAL

Airway inflammatory cells were enumerated by cell differential counts of bronchial alveolar lavage (BAL) fluid. Compared to SAL, HDM treated mice had significantly elevated total cell counts (SAL: 3.37 ± 0.54 vs. HDM: 9.20 ± 1.60 (x10⁴) cells, p<0.0001), eosinophils (SAL: 0.01 ± 0.01 vs. HDM: 2.85 ± 0.47 (x10⁴) cells, p<0.0001), neutrophils (SAL: 0.19 ± 0.06 vs. HDM: 1.15 ± 0.32 (x10⁴) cells, p<0.01), and lymphocytes (SAL: 0.52 ± 0.06 vs. HDM: 2.36 ± 0.59 (x10⁴) cells, p<0.001) (Figure 5).

Compared to the HDM group, treatment with AMD3100 had no significant effect on any cell type. (HDM vs. AMD3100 total cells: 9.20 ± 1.60 vs. $8.88 \pm 1.61(x10^4)$ cells; eosinophils: 2.85 ± 0.47 vs. $3.29 \pm 0.76(x10^4)$ cells; neutrophils: 1.15 ± 0.32 vs. $1.48 \pm 0.20(x10^4)$ cells; lymphocytes: 2.36 ± 0.59 vs. $2.20 \pm 0.47(x10^4)$ cells) (Figure 5).



Total Cells Eosinophils Neutrophils Macrophages Lymphocytes Figure 5: Airway inflammation as measured by bronchial alveolar lavage (BAL) for WT mice (n=10/group). HDM group had a significantly increased number of inflammatory cells (excluding macrophages) compared to SAL. Treatment with AMD3100 (HDM/AMD) did not decrease cell numbers compared to the HDM group and inflammatory cell numbers were still significantly higher than SAL. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.1.4 Lung tissue eosinophilia and drug effects

Lung eosinophilia was assessed by haematoxylin & eosin (H&E) staining and enumerating the number of eosinophils within a 50 μ m bandwidth around the main airway. Eosinophil numbers significantly increased following HDM exposure (HDM: 1.21±0.18vs. SAL: 0.13±0.04 cells/mm², p<0.0001). Concurrent treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated this (HDM: 1.21±0.18vs. AMD: 0.87±0.11 cells/mm², p<0.01), though not to SAL levels (SAL: 0.13±0.04vs. AMD: 0.87±0.11 cells/mm², p<0.0001) (Figure 6).



Figure 6: WT mice (n=10/group) (A) Airway eosinophilia as measured by haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stain- images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 40x magnification. (B) HDM exposed mice had a significantly increased number of eosinophils compared to SAL. Treatment with AMD3100 (HDM/AMD) significantly decreased cell numbers compared to the HDM group, though not to SAL levels (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.1.5 Collagen deposition and drug effects

Collagen deposition was assessed by staining lung sections with picrosirius red (PSR), a stain for collagen deposition and enumerating the percentage of stain within a 29.7µm bandwidth around the central airway. HDM group had a significantly greater level of collagen deposition compared to SAL (HDM: 13.20 ± 1.30 vs. SAL: $9.16\pm0.75\%$, p<0.05). Mice treated with AMD3100 *i.n.* did not show a significant decrease of stain compared to HDM (AMD: 10.03 ± 1.06 vs. HDM: $13.20\pm1.30\%$, p=0.107), though the AMD treated group was not significantly different from the SAL (Figure 7).



Figure 7: WT mice (n=10/group) (A) Collagen deposition as measured by picrosirius red (PSR) stain- images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 20x magnification. (B) HDM exposed mice had a significantly greater collagen deposition compared to their corresponding SAL group. Treatment with AMD3100 (HDM/AMD) did not decrease collagen deposition. (*p<0.05 compared to saline) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.1.6 Airway Responsiveness and drug effects

Airway resistance was assessed by measuring the maximal resistance to progressively increasing intranasal (*i.n.*) doses of MCh. In the dose-response curve, HDM group expressed the greatest response to MCh. Treatment with AMD3100 attenuated airway responsiveness to SAL levels (Figure 8A).

Doses used to determine maximal resistance were 3.1, 6.3, 12.5, and 25mg/ml MCh. Maximal airway resistance was significantly increased in the HDM group compared to SAL (HDM: 5.65 ± 1.90 vs. SAL: 1.39 ± 0.45 cmH₂O/ml/s, p<0.05). Treatment with AMD3100 completely attenuated this (HDM: 5.65 ± 1.90 vs. AMD: 1.50 ± 0.18 cmH₂O/ml/s, p<0.001) to SAL levels (p=0.91) (Figure 8B).



Figure 8: WT (n=10/group) (A) Airway resistance curve and (B) Maximal airway resistance 24hrs post allergen challenge. HDM exposed mice had a higher resistance compared to saline (SAL) exposed mice. Treatment with AMD3100 (AMD) attenuated airway resistance to SAL levels (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean. Note: values up to 25mg/ml were used in the analysis.

3.2- HDM Chronic Exposure Model in eosinophil deficient PHIL Mice

To determine if eosinophils are required for HDM-induced lung accumulation of EPC, bronchial vascularity, and airway hyperresponsiveness, we utilized a transgenic strain of eosinophil deficient PHIL mice and assessed for changes in these outcome measures following allergen challenge and concurrent treatment with AMD3100.

3.2.1 Lung-extracted progenitor cell numbers

PC (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺) numbers were significantly increased in HDM group compared with SAL (HDM: 24 257±5 470 vs. SAL: 6 614±3 117 cells, p<0.05). Treatment with AMD3100 attenuated PCs to SAL levels (AMD: 7 504±2 927 vs. HDM: 24 257±5 470 cells, p<0.05) (Figure 9A). Similar trends were also seen in EPC (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺), where HDM exposure increased EPCs compared to SAL (HDM: 18 362±4 723 vs. SAL: 5 859±2 887 cells, p<0.05) and treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated these values to SAL levels (HDM: 18 362±4 723 vs. AMD: 6 501±2 538 cells, p<0.05) (Figure 9B). In the drug control groups, HDM/VEH was not significantly different from HDM group (HDM/VEH vs. HDM for PC: 33 787±12 998 vs. 24 257±5 470 cells; EPC: 23 989±9 128 vs. 18 362±4 723 cells) and SAL/AMD was not significantly different from SAL group (SAL/AMD vs. SAL for PC: 10 376± 7 351 vs. 6 614±3 117 cells; EPC: 6 333±4 293 vs. 5 859±2 887 cells). These data indicate no placebo effect.

Between group comparisons showed PHIL HDM exposed mice had a comparatively lower number of PC compared to WT mice (PHIL HDM: 24 257±5 470 vs. WT HDM: 42 716±7 458 cells, p<0.05) (Figures 9A & 3A) and EPC (PHIL HDM: 18 362±4 723 vs. WT HDM: 33 156±5 596 cells, p<0.01) (Figures 9B & 3 B).



Figure 9: PHIL ($n\approx 10/\text{group}$) (A) Total primitive progenitor (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺) and (B) Total endothelial progenitor (EPC) (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺) cell populations in lung samples 24hrs post allergen challenge enumerated by flow cytometry. HDM exposed mice had a significantly increased number of primitive progenitor cells compared to SAL which was significantly attenuated when treated with AMD3100. EPC numbers were increased in the HDM group compared to SAL which was also attenuated to SAL levels in the AMD group. Control groups did not show placebo effects for primitive progenitor and EPC numbers. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.
3.2.2 Bronchial vascularity

MVD was significantly elevated in the HDM group when compared with SAL mice (HDM: 123.95±16.65 vs. SAL: 37.465±9.94 vessels/mm², p<0.001). Treatment with AMD3100 significantly reduced MVD to SAL levels (HDM: 123.95±16.65 vs. AMD: 45.279±10.66 vessels/mm², p<0.001) (Figure 10). In the drug control groups, HDM/VEH was not significantly different from HDM group (HDM/VEH: 87.97±16.42 vs. HDM: 123.95±16.65 vessels/mm²) and SAL/AMD was not significantly different from SAL group (SAL/AMD: 54.322±13.51 vs. SAL: 37.465±9.94 vessels/mm²). These data indicated no vehicle effect.

Between group comparisons showed a trend towards lower MVD in PHIL HDM exposed mice compared to WT HDM group (PHIL HDM: 24 257±5 470 vs. WT HDM: 42 716±7 458 cells, p=0.58) (Figures 10 & 4).



Figure 10: PHIL mice (n≈10/group) (A) Microvessel Density (MVD) as measured by von Willebrand factor staining (vWF) - images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 40X magnification. (B) Vessels counted were 10µm or less (arrows) in a 50µm bandwidth area around the main airway. MVD was significantly higher in the HDM group compared to SAL. Treatment with AMD3100 attenuated MVD to SAL levels. Control groups did not show placebo effects (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

62

3.2.3 Airway inflammation via BAL

BAL was used to assess for airway inflammatory cells. Compared to SAL groups, HDM treated mice had significantly elevated total cell counts (SAL: 4.13 ± 0.48 vs. HDM: 7.64 ± 0.93 (x10⁴) cells, p<0.01), neutrophils (SAL: 0.18 ± 0.04 vs. HDM: 1.47 ± 0.31 (x10⁴) cells, p<0.0001), and lymphocytes (SAL: 0.59 ± 0.13 vs. HDM: 2.71 ± 0.36 (x10⁴) cells, p<0.0001). As this strain is eosinophil deficient, no eosinophils were detected in BAL fluid (Figure 11).

Compared to HDM group, AMD treated PHIL mice had significantly lower total cell counts (HDM: 7.64 ± 0.93 vs. AMD: $5.20\pm0.33(x10^4)$ cells, p<0.05), macrophages (HDM: 3.45 ± 0.48 vs. AMD: 2.24 ± 0.19 ($x10^4$) cells, p<0.05), and lymphocytes (HDM: 2.71 ± 0.36 vs. AMD: 1.71 ± 0.24 ($x10^4$) cells, p<0.05). In the control groups no significant effect of vehicle was observed (HDM/VEH vs. HDM Total cells: 6.92 ± 0.75 vs. 7.64 ± 0.93 ($x10^4$) cells ; neutrophils: 2.27 ± 0.26 vs. 1.47 ± 0.31 ($x10^4$) cells; macrophages: 2.34 ± 0.39 vs. 3.45 ± 0.48 ($x10^4$) cells; lymphocytes 2.30 ± 0.35 vs. 2.71 ± 0.36 ($x10^4$) cells and SAL/AMD vs. SAL: Total cells: 5.44 ± 0.61 vs. 4.13 ± 0.48 ($x10^4$) cells ; neutrophils: 0.17 ± 0.06 vs. 0.18 ± 0.04 ($x10^4$) cells; macrophages: 4.78 ± 0.64 vs. 3.37 ± 0.44 ($x10^4$) cells; lymphocytes 0.49 ± 0.08 vs. 0.59 ± 0.13 ($x10^4$) cells).

Between group comparisons for HDM exposed WT and PHIL mice showed no significant differences in inflammatory cell numbers (Figures 5 & 11).

63



Figure 11: Airway inflammation as measured by bronchial alveolar lavage (BAL) for PHIL mice (n \approx 10/group). HDM group had a significantly increased number of inflammatory cells (excluding macrophages) compared to SAL. Treatment with AMD3100 (HDM/AMD) decreased cell numbers compared to the HDM group (trend towards decreased neutrophils, though not significant). (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.2.4 Lung eosinophilia

To further confirm PHIL mice are eosinophil deficient, an H&E stain was performed on lung sections. Few eosinophils were observed in SAL, HDM, and AMD groups (SAL: 0.00 ± 0.00 , HDM: 0.03 ± 0.01 , AMD: 0.03 ± 0.01 eosinophils/mm²) (Figure 12).



Figure 12: PHIL ($n \approx 10$ /group) (A) Airway eosinophils as measured by hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stain- images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 40x magnification. (B) Little to no eosinophils were observed in SAL, HDM and HDM/AMD groups. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.2.5- Collagen deposition

HDM exposed mice had a significantly higher collagen deposition compared to SAL group (HDM: 19.25 ± 2.48 vs. SAL: $13.2\pm1.30\%$, p<0.01). Mice treated with AMD3100 showed a significant decrease in collagen deposition compared to HDM to SAL levels (AMD: 10.92 ± 0.85 vs. HDM: $19.25\pm2.48\%$, p<0.0001) (Figure 13).

The HDM/VEH group had a significantly higher collagen deposition than SAL (HDM/VEH: 12.25±1.37 vs. SAL: 13.2±1.30%, p<0.01), but was significantly lower than HDM exposed mice (HDM: 19.25±2.48 vs. HDM/VEH: 12.25±1.37%, p<0.01) suggesting a vehicle effect.

Between group comparisons for HDM exposed WT and PHIL mice showed a significant increase in collagen deposition for the PHIL HDM group (WT HDM: 13.2 ± 1.30 vs. PHIL HDM: $19.25\pm2.48\%$, p<0.01) (Figure 7 & 13).



Figure 13: PHIL mice (n≈10/group) (A) Collagen deposition as measured by picrosirius red (PSR) stain- images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 20x magnification. (B) HDM exposed mice had a significantly greater collagen deposition compared to their corresponding SAL group. Treatment with AMD3100 (HDM/AMD) significantly attenuated collagen deposition. The HDM/VEH group, though significantly higher than SAL, was significantly lower than HDM. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

3.2.6 Airway Responsiveness

In the dose-response curve, HDM group expressed the greatest response to increasing doses of MCh. Treatment with AMD3100 attenuated airway responsiveness to SAL levels. HDM/VEH group expressed an airway responsiveness similar to HDM group and SAL/AMD responded to increasing doses of MCh similar to SAL group (Figure 14A).

Maximal resistance was significantly elevated in the HDM group compared to SAL (HDM: 5.51 ± 0.99 vs. SAL: 1.10 ± 0.28 cmH₂O/ml/s, p=0.001). Treatment with AMD3100 completely attenuated this increase to SAL levels (AMD: 1.79 ± 0.40 vs. HDM: 5.51 ± 0.99 cmH₂O/ml/s, p<0.01). Control groups (HDM/VEH: 3.76 ± 0.77 vs. HDM: 5.51 ± 0.9928 cmH₂O/ml/s and SAL/AMD: 0.83 ± 0.19 vs. SAL: 1.10 ± 0.28 cmH₂O/ml/s) showed no vehicle effects (Figure 14B).

Between group comparisons for WT and PHIL HDM groups showed no significant differences in maximal airway resistance to MCh (Figures 8 & 14).



Figure 14: PHIL (n≈10/group) (A) Airway resistance curve and (B) Maximal airway resistance 24hrs post allergen challenge. HDM exposed mice had a higher resistance compared to saline (SAL) exposed mice. Treatment with AMD3100 (AMD) attenuated airway resistance to SAL levels. Control mice showed no placebo effect (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean. Note: values up to 25mg/ml were used in the analysis

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Asthma is characterized by reversible airway obstruction and AHR (Jeffery PK, 2001; Wilson JW and Hii S, 2006; Knight DA et al., 2010). Histologically, tissue eosinophilia and tissue remodeling are a hallmark of asthmatic lungs. A central focus of this thesis is understanding the role of eosinophils in the traffic of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells in to the lungs and development of bronchial vascularity in allergic asthmatic responses.

Asthmatic responses are associated with a systemic element that includes activation of the bone marrow leading to the mobilization and lung-homing of myeloid populations of progenitor cells, which are then manipulated by local cytokines and chemokines (Denburg JA et al., 2006) to differentiate *in situ* into pro-inflammatory cells (eosinophils, basophils, mast cells) (Kim et al., 1999; Dorman SC et al., 2004; Southam DS et al., 2004; Hallgren J et al., 2007) and/or structural cells (myofibroblasts, vascular endothelial cells) (Schmidt M et al., 2003). This traffic is thought to be driven by the down-regulation of retentive forces within the BM microenvironment including cell-associated adhesion molecules (namely VLA-4) and receptors for chemoattractants such as SDF-1 (CXCR4) on progenitor cells, allowing for the egress of cells to the peripheral circulation. Homing into the lungs is assisted by an up-regulation of the SDF-1α/CXCR4 axis (Sehmi R et al., 1997; Catalli AE et al., 2008; Wood LJ et al., 1998; Dorman SC et al., 2004; Southam DS et al., 2004).

We have previously shown in a mouse model of asthma that chronic exposure to OVA results in a significant increase in lung-extracted EPC to the lungs, increased bronchial vascularity, and airway eosinophilia. By modulating the migration of EPC to the lungs with AMD3100 (a CXCR4 antagonist) all of these indices of remodeling were attenuated (Doyle TM et al., 2011). However, SDF-1 α is an eosinophil chemoattractant (Lukacs NW et al., 2002) and eosinophil-derived factors (such as VEGF, TNF- α , GM-CSF, NGF) and granule-associated proteins (EPO and LTC₄) (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a; Kay AB, Phipps S, and Robinson DS, 2004) are known to be EPC chemoattractants (Asahara T et al., 1999) and pro-angiogenic factors. Therefore, it was unclear from our earlier findings whether AMD3100 acted directly to attenuate EPC lung accumulation or indirectly through it's anti-inflammatory effects on eosinophils.

The hypothesis of this thesis was: the mobilization, lung-homing and in-situ differentiation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells in asthma is independent of eosinophilic inflammation. The aims of my project were: i) determine if HDM exposure induces EPC traffic and lung vascular changes comparable to the established OVA mouse model, ii) investigate if eosinophils are required in Ag-induced lung homing of EPC and increased lung vascularity, and iii) determine if AMD3100 acts independently of eosinophils to attenuate HDM-induced lung accumulation of EPC, increased lung vascularity, and airway dysfunction.

4.1 HDM Chronic Exposure Model in WT Mice

4.1.1 HDM vs. OVA

The current study showed that chronic allergen challenge with HDM results in a significant increase in lung-extracted EPC, bronchial vascularity, airway eosinophilia,

AHR and collagen deposition compared to SAL group (Figures 3-8) which was in keeping with our labs previous study utilizing an OVA exposure model (Doyle TM et al., 2011). However, while treatment with AMD3100 attenuated lung-extracted EPC (Figure 3) and bronchial vascularity (Figure 4), the drug did not attenuate airway eosinophilia in BAL fluid (Figure 5), which was not in agreement with the reduction reported by Doyle *et al.* (Doyle TM et al., 2011).

To confirm the data obtained by BAL fluid, we investigated eosinophilia directly in lung tissue obtained from our study subjects. Eosinophils were enumerated from 3µm sections of the left lung lobe (transverse cross-sections of the first generation airway) (Ellis R et al., 2003) stained with hematoxylin and eosin. We found that eosinophil numbers in the peribronchial region were significantly increased from SAL levels in HDM group, and treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated this, though not to SAL group (Figure 6). These results were similar to the information obtained from BAL data in the OVA-based study (Doyle TM et al., 2011).

Differences were observed between OVA and HDM models in the effect of drug on airway eosinophilia which may be because HDM exposed mice have a more robust eosinophilia that could not be as easily attenuated by the same dosage of AMD3100 that was effective for OVA in the OVA model. In a study comparing OVA and HDM chronic exposure models in BALB/c mice, eosinophilia was found to be approximately 3 times greater in HDM mice 24hours following final allergen exposure (DiGiovanni FA et al., 2009). Also, the dosage of AMD3100 utilized in our HDM model was optimized as the minimum dose to attenuate lung traffic of progenitor cells, bronchial vascularity and airway eosinophilia for a brief-exposure OVA model (Appendix B, Figures 21-23; Doyle T. MSc Thesis, 2009). Though this concentration of drug was sufficient to assess for changes in the other indices of airway remodelling, a greater concentration of drug may have been required to express an attenuation of eosinophilia in BAL fluid for the HDM exposed group.

The robust eosinophilia seen in HDM exposed mice (DiGiovanni FA et al., 2009) may be due to an airway epithelial cell-based mechanism of allergenicity for HDM in addition to antigen interaction and presentation by DCs which is commonly used to promote T_H2 cytokine production in OVA and HDM exposure models as described in detail in section 1.3. In this pathway, HDM triggers the airway epithelium to promote a T_H2 -cytokine profile. HDM-associated ligands (such as proteases Der p 2,7 and endotoxin) trigger TLR-4s (toll-like receptor 4) found on airway epithelial cells which produce TSLP, GM-CSF, IL-25, and IL-33. These TLR-4 products further promote inflammatory cell (i.e. eosinophil) accumulation into the lungs, activate DCs for a T_H2 phenotype, and promote the production of IL-5, IL-13, and IL-4. A feedback loop is also achieved which promotes epithelial cell production of cytokines such as IL-8 which recruit eosinophils into the airways (Lambrecht BN and Hammad H, 2012). Thus, the airway epithelium's reaction to HDM may provide an extra driving force for increased eosinophilia compared to OVA.

As HDM has multiple routes through which eosinophilia can occur, it is also possible that 24 hours post final allergen challenge is not an adequate time frame to observe changes in BAL eosinophil levels from drug treatment. Since AMD3100 was administered *i.n.*, the subepithelium along the primary airway may provide the fastest response to drug, thus resulting in an attenuation in eosinophil numbers as observed by H&E staining. However, in BAL fluid eosinophils may first need to leak out from lung tissue into the alveolar sacs and bronchial columns. Thus, any changes in these numbers from treatment with AMD3100 would be indirect, following after changes seen in the lung tissue, and this delayed effect may require BAL to be collected at 48 hours or later in order to observe changes in eosinophilia. As studies have not looked at the time course of eosinophilia in an HDM model, this may be a suitable next step in further understanding this mechanism.

4.2 PHIL Mice

Our group has shown that, in WT BALB/c mice, bronchial vascularity and airway resistance are associated with the modulation of EPC homing into the lungs (Doyle TM et al., 2011). As well, a kinetic study by Asosingh et al. found that, in a brief OVA exposure model, EPCs are immediately recruited into the lungs (6-12hrs), followed by increased bronchial vascularity (24-48hrs) and a delayed, yet rapid increase in eosinophilia (>2 days) (Asosingh K et al., 2007). These findings, along with our current data in PHIL mice using an HDM exposure protocol, suggest that by modulating EPC traffic into the lungs, we can reduce bronchial vascularity. In asthma, increased bronchial

vasculature provides a portal of entry for inflammatory cells through the local upregulation of adhesion glycoproteins (Wilson JW & Robertson C, 2002). As we reduce bronchial vascularity, this would in turn decrease bronchial circulation of inflammatory cells.

Increased bronchial vascularity can promote oedema and development of increased airway wall thickness, which then may contribute to AHR (Wilson JW & Robertson C, 2002). Thus, with the attenuating bronchial vascularity a reduction of AHR also occurs. Our data supports the view that by modulating EPC traffic into the lungs we can attenuate bronchial vascularity which in turn may contribute to attenuation of airway remodelling changes by affecting the recruitment of pro-inflammatory cells to the lungs and development of lung dysfunction.

Eosinophils express CXCR4 and can be recruited to the lungs via the SDFl α /CXCR4 axis (Lukacs NW et al., 2002; Dorman SC et al., 2005). Studies have previously shown, following an allergen induced asthmatic exacerbation, these primary effector cells are activated by IL-5, mobilize from the bone marrow (BM) and then traffic to the lung, which is mediated by eotaxin binding to the up-regulated CCR3 receptor on eosinophils (Zimmermann N et al., 2003; Stirling RG et al., 2001; Conroy DM et al., 1997; Zeibecoglou K et al., 1999; Wang et al., 1998; Palframan RT et al., 1998; Rothenberg ME and Hogan SP, 2006; Minshall E et al., 1998; Wood et al., 2002). It has also been shown that once in the lungs, eosinophils release pro-angiogenic factors (such as angiogenin, VEGF, and NGF) which can contribute to bronchial vascularity (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a; Kay AB, Phipps S, and Robinson DS, 2004). Therefore, it is possible that AMD3100 attenuates lung remodelling factors by inhibiting eosinophil traffic into the lungs, which in turn decreases EPC and bronchial vascularity, as well as, airway inflammatory cell circulation and homing into the lungs. The reduction in bronchial vascularity and inflammatory cell accumulation within the lungs would in turn reduce AHR. In order to test our hypothesis that EPC lung-homing is independent of eosinophilic inflammation and confirm AMD3100 acts primarily by modulating EPC traffic into the lungs, we utilized eosinophil deficient PHIL mice and assessed for changes in remodelling factors with HDM exposure and drug treatment.

4.2.1 WT vs. PHIL chronic HDM exposure model

In PHIL mice, our study found that HDM exposure significantly increased the number of lung-extracted primitive progenitors and EPC (Figure 9), bronchial vascularity (Figure 10), airway inflammation (Figure 11), collagen deposition (Figure 13), and maximal airway resistance (Figure 14). When compared with WT HDM group, PHIL HDM had significantly lower lung-extracted progenitor cells (Figure 3 & 9), lower (though not significant) bronchial vascularity (Figures 4 & 10), and significantly higher collagen deposition (Figures 7 & 13). Airway inflammation and maximal resistance to incremental doses of MCh were similar in both WT and PHIL HDM groups (Figures 5 & 11 and 8 & 14 respectively).

As allergen-induced lung homing of EPC and increased vascularity have been observed in PHIL mice, eosinophils may not be required for these changes in airway remodeling. Because by comparison WT mice had a significantly greater level of EPC recruitment to the lungs and level of vascularity following allergen challenge, we propose that eosinophils and eosinophil-derived products may worsen these disease outcome measures.

4.2.2 WT vs. PHIL drug treatment- progenitor cells, bronchial vascularity and AHR

Concurrent treatment of PHIL transgenic mice with AMD3100 significantly attenuated lung-extracted primitive progenitor and EPC populations to SAL levels (Figure 9). Between group comparisons also showed no significant difference between PHIL HDM/AMD and WT HDM/AMD groups (Figure 3). Thus, AMD3100 was able to inhibit progenitor cell accumulation in the lungs in both WT and eosinophil deficient models.

Unlike WT HDM/AMD group (Figure 4), bronchial vascularity was significantly attenuated to SAL levels in the PHIL HDM/AMD group (Figure 10). Since eosinophils release pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF and NGF (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a), their presence in WT mice may have attributed to the increased MVD in HDM/AMD group. In WT mice, AMD3100 was able to inhibit EPC accumulation in the lungs which significantly reduced their contribution to bronchial vascularity via differentiation into endothelial cells (Asahara T et al., 1997). As a result, HDM/AMD group had a significantly lower MVD than HDM treated group, but the presence of eosinophils (Figures 5 & 6) may have been sufficient to release enough pro-angiogenic factors to maintain MVD levels above the SAL group. In the transgenic eosinophil deficient PHILs, both the inhibition of EPC recruitment into the lungs and lack of eosinophils may have contributed to the attenuation of lung vascularization in the HDM/AMD group to the level of the SAL treated group.

Treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated maximal airway resistance to SAL levels in PHIL mice (Figure 14) and, when compared to WT HDM/AMD group (Figure 8), there was no significant difference. This is in agreement with previous studies that have shown the ability of AMD3100 to block development of AHR (Doyle TM et al., 2011; Lukacs NW et al., 2002).

As there were no differences between HDM and HDM/VEH as well as SAL and SAL/AMD group, we can confirm there was no placebo effect.

4.2.3 WT vs. PHIL drug treatment- airway inflammation and lung tissue eosinophilia

In the BAL fluid of PHIL mice, treatment with AMD3100 significantly attenuated total cell number and macrophages to SAL as well as attenuated lymphocyte numbers, though not to SAL (Figure 11). These values were significantly lower than WT HDM/AMD (Figure 5).

In PHIL mice, HDM and HDM/AMD groups were found to have low but no significant numbers of eosinophils in the peribronchial region of the left lung (Figure 12). In a study by Ramzi Fattouh *et al.* eosinophils were also detected following HDM exposure in BAL fluid (Fattouh R et al., 2011). Flow cytometric analysis of whole lung digests were also done, identifying eosinophils as CD45⁺Gr-1^{low/int}SSC^{int/high} which were detected at low levels in both SAL and HDM groups (Fattouh R et al., 2011). An acute OVA exposure model was used in the study that first introduced PHIL mice. This study also noted trace amounts (<0.5% eosinophils) in the BAL fluid of one of four PHIL mice as well as mentioned a few eosinophils observed in blood films and bone marrow smears

(Lee JJ et al., 2004). These studies further support our results and suggest that while eosinophils are present in some PHIL mice, their effects on airway remodelling are negligible.

4.3 Collagen Deposition

Collagen deposition was assessed as a secondary outcome measure because fibrocytes have been found to express CXCR4 (Mehrad, Burdi, and Strieter 2009; Phillips RJ et al., 2004). We cannot make any statements from our data with confidence due to a vehicle effect which was observed in our control HDM/VEH group (Figure 13).

Based on previous studies and knowledge, we would expect HDM exposed WT mice to have greater collagen deposition compared to eosinophil deficient PHIL mice (Fattouh R et al., 2011, Puxeddu I et al., 2009). Eosinophil granule basic proteins modulate tissue remodeling by acting on the extracellular matrix components and on some fibroblast properties, further promoting a profibrogenic environment in WT mice which PHIL mice lack. For example, eosinophil cationic protein inhibits proteoglycan degradation and increases intracellular accumulation of glycosaminoglycans in human lung fibroblasts. Major basic protein acts in collaboration with IL-1 and TGF- β to increase production of pro-fibrogenic cytokines (IL-6, IL-11, and LIF-1) (Puxeddu I et al., 2009), whereas eosinophil-derived neurotoxin stimulates fibroblast proliferation. Eosinophil-derived cytokines TGF-B and fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2 are well-known, potent pro-fibrogenic mediators (Puxeddu I et al., 2005a). With these means of promoting collagen deposition, the presence of eosinophils in WT mice may not allow for

a significant drug effect as seen in the previous OVA model (Doyle TM et al., 2011), but may allow for AMD3100 to attenuate collagen deposition in PHIL mice. Though this is suggested by our data (Figure 13), these results must be replicated.

4.4 Conclusion

In summary, our results show that HDM exposure induces EPC traffic and lung vascular changes comparable to the established OVA mouse model. Using this model in PHIL mice, HDM exposure stimulated lung accumulation of EPC and increase lung vascularity comparable to that observed in WT mice albeit at lower levels. Furthermore, use of AMD3100 concurrently with Ag attenuated lung accumulation of EPC and lung vascularity in PHIL mice which was comparable to the reductions seen in WT mice. A comparative analysis of the lung remodelling changes in PHIL versus WT mice suggests that eosinophils and eosinophil-derived products contribute to the worsening of pathological outcome measures of asthma such as bronchial vascularity via the release of pro-angiogenic factors.

In conclusion, our findings suggest that the lung accumulation of endothelial progenitor cells in HDM-induced asthma is independent of eosinophilic inflammation.

4.5 Limitations

4.5.1 Optimal concentration of drug

When compared with OVA, HDM exposure has previously been shown to produce differences in airway eosinophilia and maximal bronchoconstriction (DiGiovanni FA et al., 2009). Also, as the routes of entry are different between the two, the

allergenicity of HDM differs from OVA (Sjöbring U and Taylor JD, 2007) suggesting treatment protocols for HDM-induced lung dysfunction should be individualized for the allergen.

The concentration of AMD3100 used in this study was optimized for a brief OVA exposure model (Appendix B, Figure 21-23; Doyle T. MSc Thesis, 2009). Though the dosage was sufficient to detect drug induced changes in lung accumulation of EPC, bronchial vascularity and airway responsiveness, changes in airway inflammatory cells from collected BAL fluid were not easily identifiable. This suggests a greater concentration of drug may have been required to obtain optimal results. However, we were able to detect airway eosinophil changes in keeping with OVA/AMD by direct staining of left lung lobe sections with hematoxylin and eosin and thus can confirm AMD3100 was able to attenuate a factor of airway inflammation as well as speculate the other changes seen in Doyle *et al.* may have also subtly occurred (2011).

4.5.2 Drug specificity

AMD3100 is a CXCR4 antagonist used to inhibit the chemotactic activity of SDF-1 α . Whilst SDF-1 α is a chemoattractant of progenitor cells, it has also previously been shown to be chemotactic for neutrophils, monocytes, and lymphocytes in addition to eosinophils (Aiuti A et al., 1997; Bleul CC et al., 1996; Lukacs NW et al., 2002).

Our current study did not detect a reduction in inflammatory cells for WT HDM/AMD group (Figure 5), but did observe significantly lower macrophage and lymphocyte levels in PHIL HDM/AMD when compared with PHIL HDM (Figure 11). In the OVA-based study previously conducted by our lab, OVA/AMD group had

significantly lower levels of neutrophils, macrophages, and eosinophils when compared with OVA group (Doyle TM et al., 2011). With the knowledge that AMD3100 treatment attenuated macrophage, lymphocyte and neutrophil levels in the current, and previous study (Doyle TM et al., 2011), the potential role of these inflammatory cells in the morphometric changes observed in our study should be assessed in order to gain better insight into their contribution to our hypothesis.

4.5.3 Assessment of Airway Eosinophilia

Airway eosinophilia was assessed by enumerating eosinophils from BAL fluid as well as staining of lung sections with hematoxylin and eosin. Though this combination of analysis had previously been suggested to be sufficient (Walters EH, Ward C, and LI X, 1996), flow cytometric analysis may have provided additional benefits in comparing eosinophilia between groups. Eosinophil enumeration via flow cytometry (CD45⁺Gr-1^{low/int}SSC^{int/high}) (Fattouh R et al., 2011) would have allowed for a percentage composition assessment of eosinophils from whole lung digests. If there is a difference between lung sizes of WT and PHIL mice, this would eliminate the size factor and look solely at lung content.

4.5.4 Collagen deposition

The significant effect of AMD3100 treatment on collagen deposition in a PHIL mouse model had been hindered in our study by a vehicle effect found in our control HDM/VEH group (Figure 13). As well, the optimal time to assess airway fibrosis is at 4 weeks post allergen challenge as cellular inflammation at earlier time points interferes with accurate staining for collagen deposition (Leigh R et al., 2002). However, the

suboptimal timing may not have a detrimental effect, as the 24hr post-challenge assessed WT HDM group was in keeping with the previously assessed 4 week post-challenge assessed OVA HDM group having a significantly higher collagen deposition (Doyle TM et al., 2011).

Confounding evidence was also suggested as the HDM chronic exposure study by Fattouh *et al.*, had a significantly lower collagen deposition for PHIL HDM group when compared with WT HDM group (2011). This contradicts our finding suggesting HDM PHIL group had a significantly higher collagen deposition when compared with WT HDM group (Figures 13 & 7).

4.6 Future Directions

$4.6.1 \Delta dblGATA model$

A pilot study was conducted using a second strain of eosinophil deficient mice referred to as Δ dblGATA. These mice are unable to produce eosinophils, but erythroid cells, megakaryocytes, mast cells and earlier hemopoietic precursors are not affected (Yu C et al., 2002).

A previous study using Δ dblGATA mice in an HDM chronic exposure model found HDM group had significantly increased total cell number and mononuclear cells, when compared with SAL group, in BAL fluid and these were significantly less in Δ dblGATA HDM group when compared with WT HDM (Fattouh R et al., 2011). Assessment of lung fibrosis also showed Δ dblGATA HDM group had significantly higher collagen deposition when compared with Δ dblGATA SAL group and WT HDM group (Fattouh R et al., 2011).

Our current pilot study produced inconclusive results, showing only trends towards increases in most of the outcome indices measured. HDM group showed a trend towards increased EPC (Appendix A, Figure 15) and significant increases in MVD (Appendix A, Figure 16) and airway inflammation (Appendix A, Figure 17) when compared with SAL group. HDM group also had trends toward increased collagen deposition (Appendix A, Figure 18), and airway maximal resistance (Appendix A, Figure 19) compared to SAL group.

The Δ dblGATA pilot study was underpowered (SAL: n=5; HDM: n=6). Based on previous progenitor cell studies (Southam DS et al., 2004 and Doyle TM et al., 2011) we have used n=10 per group to see significant allergen-induced changes in lung-extracted EPC numbers and bronchial vascularity. Thus to support the findings from the PHIL mice that EPC migration and lung vascularity changes can occur independently of eosinophils, we will need to complete the Δ dblGATA study to n=10 per group.

4.6.2 Drug effects on Lymphocytes

As previously mentioned, the SDF-1α/CXCR4 mechanism is not specific to progenitor cells, and can also attract inflammatory cells such as lymphocytes (Luckas NW et al., 2002). Studies have shown that AMD3100 can promote a rapid and significant mobilization of all conventional T-lymphocyte populations as well as enhanced mobilization of Tregs and effector memory T-cells from the BM into PB (Kean LS et al., 2011). As the current thesis has found, eosinophils are not required in allergen-induced

increased EPC lung accumulation, bronchial vascularity, and development of AHR, it would also be beneficial to investigate the potential role/contribution lymphocytes play in these outcome measures.

Previous studies that have used PHIL mice and studied T-lymphocytes have found that eosinophils are required for T-cell recruitment into the lungs following allergen challenge (Jacobsen EA et al., 2008) and that T-cell mediated inflammation is not required for development of AHR (Leigh R et al., 2002). However, while Jacobsen et al. had found no significant difference between BAL lymphocyte numbers in PHIL saline and allergen groups (2008), a previous study by Fattouh et al. as well as the current thesis had found a significant increase in PHIL HDM group compared to PHIL SAL (2011). Thus, in an HDM chronic exposure model, a significant T-lymphocyte recruitment is not dependent on the presence of eosinophils, further supporting the need to assess their potential contribution to the morphological changes observed in our study.

CXCR7 (formally known as the orphan receptor RDC1), had been recently found as a secondary receptor for SDF-1 α (Balabanian K et al., 2005). The levels of expression for CXCR7 on the cell surface of T-lymphocytes have been debated (Balabanian K et al., 2005; Hartmann TN et al., 2008). As well, CXCR7 has been proposed to function as a modulator of the SDF-1 α /CXCR4 axis (Hartmann TN et al., 2008). However, T-lymphocytes from both studies mentioned above were taken from peripheral blood samples. Thus, the cell surface expression of CXCR7 and CXCR4 in lung-extracted T-lymphocytes as well as flow cytometric analysis of their relative levels following allergen

exposure and treatment with AMD3100 may further elucidate their mechanism of homing into the lungs.

4.6.3 Role of CXCR7 in EPC proliferation

A recent study by Costello CM et al. had found that while CXCR4 is essential for chemotactic cell migration in pulmonary hypertensive disease, CXCR7 is the receptor through which endothelial cell regeneration, repair and proliferation is mediated (2012). As a running hypothesis in our lab is, following allergen exposure, BM-derived EPC home into the lungs and differentiate into new vessels (Asahara T et al., 1997), contributing to increased bronchial vascularity, it may be beneficial to investigate the potential for an SDF-1 α /CXCR7 axis modulating EPC proliferation within the lungs.

4.6.4 Drug effects in lung fibrosis

Concurrent treatment with AMD3100 was found to produce a trend towards decreased collagen deposition when compared to HDM group in WT mice and did significantly attenuate airway fibrosis to SAL levels in PHIL mice. As these outcome measures were 24 hours post final allergen challenge and a delay period of 4 weeks is normally required to assess collagen deposition, this may suggest that, if given the optimal wait period (after which eosinophil levels would have declined and not contributed to fibrosis (Kay AB et al., 2004; Leigh R et al., 2002)), WT mice would have identical results to PHIL. A previous study by Song et al. showed that treatment with AMD3100 inhibits fibrocyte mobilization to the lung and reduces airway fibrosis (2010). Thus, a more detailed assessment of the role AMD3100 plays in airway fibrosis,

primarily focusing on fibrocyte homing to the lungs, may be useful in further understanding this drug's effects.

4.6.5 Clinical AMD3100 experiments in lung

AMD3100 has recently approved by the FDA for clinical trials for auto hemopoietic stem cell transplants, where it is used for stem cell mobilization from the bone marrow (Kean MP et al., 2011). We have shown that AMD3100 is also capable of preventing overall lung dysfunction and development of AHR, when administered concurrently, from the current thesis and previous studies in mouse models (Doyle TM et al., 2011; Lukacs NW et al., 2002). Though this drug has been most effective in a preventative treatment regimen, in a reversal treatment regimen, AMD3100 significantly attenuated primitive progenitor cell numbers and bronchial vascularity, as well as showed a trend towards decreased maximal airway resistance to incremental doses of MCh (Doyle TM et al., 2011). As AMD3100 was able to attenuate bronchial vascularity and the development of AHR after the asthmatic phenotype was established, these effects would greatly benefit patients. A plausible next step would be to optimize a human airway treatment protocol for AMD3100 and assess the effects of this drug in clinical trials.

REFERENCES

Afshar R, Medoff BD, and Luster AD. Allergic asthma: A tale of many T cells. *Clinical* & *Experimental Allergy* 2008;38(12):1847-1857.

Aiuti A, Turchetto L, Cota M, Cipponi A and Brambilla A. Human CD34+ cells express CXCR4 and its ligand stromal cell-derived factor-1. Implications for infection by T-cell tropic human immunodeficiency virus. *Blood* 1999;94(62).

Aiuti A, Webb IJ, Bleul C, Springer T and Gutierrez-Ramos JC. The chemokine SDF-1 is a chemoattractant for human CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells and provides a new mechanism to explain the mobilization of CD34+ progenitors to peripheral blood. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1997;185(1):111-120.

An SS, Bai TR, Bates JH et al. Airway smooth muscle dynamics: a common pathway of airway obstruction in asthma. *The European Respiratory Journal : Official Journal of the European Society for Clinical Respiratory Physiology* 2007;29(5):834-860.

Andersson-Sjoland A, de Alba CG, Nihlberg K, Becerril C, Ramirez R, Pardo A, Westergren-Thorsson G and Selman M. Fibrocytes are a potential source of lung fibroblasts in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 2008;40(10):2129-2140.

Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G and Isner JM. Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 1997;275(5302):964-967

Asahara T, Takahashi T, Masuda H, Kalka C, Chen D, Iwaguro H, Inai Y, Silver M and Isner JM. VEGF contributes to postnatal neovascularization by mobilizing bone marrowderived endothelial progenitor cells. *The EMBO Journal* 1999;18(14):3964-3972.

Asai K, Kanazawa H, Otani K, Shiraishi S, Hirata K, Yoshikawa J. Imbalance between vascular endothelial growth factor and endostatin levels in induced sputum from asthmatic subjects. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002;110:571-5.

Asosingh K, Swaidani S and Aronica M. Th1- and Th2-dependent endothelial progenitor cell recruitment and angiogenic switch in asthma. *J Immunol* 2007;178(10):6482.

Averbeck M, Gebhardt C, Emmrich F, Treudler R, and Simon JC. Immunologic principles of allergic disease. *Journal Der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft*, 2007;5(11):1015-1027.

Balabanian K, Lagane B, Infantino S et al. The chemokine SDF-1/CXCL12 binds to and signals through the orphan receptor RDC1 in T lymphocytes. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:35760-36.

Balabanian K, Lagane B, Infantino S, Chow KYC, Harriague J, Moepps Barbara, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Thelen M, and Bachelerie F. The Chemokine SDF-1/CXCL12 Binds to and Signals through the Orphan Receptor RDC1 in T Lymphocytes. *The Jornal of Biological Chemistry* 2005;280(42):35760-35766.

Banai S, Shweiki D, Pinson A, Chandra M, Lazarovici G and Keshet E. Upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression induced by myocardial ischemia: implications for coronary angiogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1994;28(8):1176.

Bateman ED, Hurd SS, Barnes PJ, Bousquet J, Drazen JM, FitzGerald M, Gibson P, Ohta K, O'Byrne P, Pedersen SE, Pizzichini E, Sullivan SD, Wenzel SE, and Zar HJ. Global strategy for asthma management and prevention: GINA executive summary. *Eur Respir J* 2008;31(1):143-78.

Bleul CC, Fuhlbrigge RC, Casasnovas JM, Aiuti A, and Springer TA. A Highly Efficacious Lymphocyte Chemoattractant, Stromal Cell-derived Factor 1 (SDF-1). *J Exp Med* 1996;184:1101-1109.

Boulet LP, Laviolette M, Turcotte H, Cartier A, Dugas M, Malo JL, Boutet M. Bronchial subepithelial fibrosis correlates with airway responsiveness to methacholine. *Chest*. 1997;112(1):45-52.

Bousquet J, Khaltaev N. Global surveillance, prevention and control of chronic respiratory diseases: a comprehensive approach. Global Alliance against Chronic Respiratory Diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.

Boyce JA, Broide D, Matsumoto K, and Bochner BS. Advances in mechanisms of asthma, allergy, and immunology in 2008. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2009;123(3):569-574.

Bradding P and Holgate ST. Immunopathology and human mast cell cytokines. *Critical Reviews in oncology/hematology* 1999;31(2):119-133.

Braman SS. The global burden of asthma. CHEST Journal 2006;130(1_suppl):4S-12S.

Brewster CE, Howarth PH, Djukanovic R, Wilson J, Holgate ST and Roche WR. Myofibroblasts and subepithelial fibrosis in bronchial asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 1990;3(5):507-511

Brown JR, Kleimberg J, Marini M, Sun G, Bellini A and Mattoli S. Kinetics of eotaxin expression and its relationship to eosinophil accumulation and activation in bronchial biopsies and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) of asthmatic patients after allergen inhalation. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 1998;114(2):137-146.

Brown LF, Harrist TJ, Yeo KT, Stahle-Backdahl M, Jackman RW, Berse B, Tognazzi K, Dvorak HF and Detmar M. Increased expression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in bullous pemphigoid, dermatitis herpetiformis, and erythema multiforme. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 1995;104(5):744-749.

Bucala R, Spiegel LA, Chesney J, Hogan M and Cerami A. Circulating fibrocytes define a new leukocyte subpopulation that mediates tissue repair. *Molecular Medicine* (*Cambridge, Mass.*) 1994;1(1):71-81.

Busse WW and Lemanske Jr RF. Asthma. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2001; 344(5):350-362.

Cameron L, Christodoulopoulos P, Lavigne F, Nakamura Y, Eidelman D, McEuen A, Walls A, Tavernier J, Minshall E, Moqbel R and Hamid Q. Evidence for local eosinophil differentiation within allergic nasal mucosa: inhibition with soluble IL-5 receptor. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* 2000;164(3):1538-1545.

Carion A, Domenech J, Hérault O et al. Decreased stroma adhesion capacity of CD34+ progenitor cells from mobilized peripheral blood is not lineage- or stage-specific and is associated with low beta 1 and beta 2 integrin expression. *J Hematother Stem Cell Res* 2002;11:491-500.

Carmeliet, P. Angiogenesis in life, disease and medicine. *Nature* 2005;438(7070):932-936

Carroll NG, Cooke C and James AL. Bronchial blood vessel dimensions in asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 1997;155(2):689-695.

Catalli AE, Thomson JV, Babirad IM, Duong M, Doyle TM, Howie KJ, Newbold P, Craggs RI, Foster M, Gauvreau GM, O'Byrne PM and Sehmi R. Modulation of beta1integrins on hemopoietic progenitor cells after allergen challenge in asthmatic subjects. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2008;122(4):803-810.

Chetta A, Zanini A, Torre O and Olivieri D. Vascular remodelling and angiogenesis in asthma: morphological aspects and pharmacological modulation. *Inflammation & Allergy Drug Targets* 2007;6(1):41-45.

Conroy DM, Humbles AA, Rankin SM et al. The role of the eosinophil-selective chemokine, eotaxin, in allergic and non-allergic airways inflammation. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* 1997; 92:183-91.

Costello CM, McCullagh B, Howell K, Sands M, Belperio JA, Keane MP, Gaine S, and McLoughlin P. A role for the CXCL12 receptor, CXCR7, in the pathogenesis of human pulmonary vascular disease. *Eur Respir J* 2012;39:1415-1424.

De Clercq E, Yamamoto N, Pauwels R, Balzarini J, Witvrouw M, De Vreese K, Debyser Z, Rosenwirth B, Peichl P and Datema R. Highly potent and selective inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus by the bicyclam derivative JM3100. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 1994;38(4):668-674.

Denburg JA et al. Bone marrow progenitors in inflammation and repair: new vistas in respiratory biology and pathophysiology *Eur Resp J* 2006;27:441.

DiGiovanni FA, Ellis R, Wattie J, Hirota JA, Southam DS, Inman MD. Concurrent dual allergen exposure and its effects on airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation and remodeling in mice. *Disease Models and Mechanisms* 2009;2:275-282.

Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. the international society for cellular therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 2006;8(4):315-317.

Dorman SC, Babirad I, Post J, Watson R, Foley R, Jones GL, O'Byrne PM and Sehmi R. Progenitor egress from the bone marrow after allergen challenge: role of stromal cell-derived factor 1 alpha and eotaxin. *J Allergy Clin Immunology* 2005;115(3):501.

Doyle TM, Ellis R, Park HJ, Peng K, Inman MD, and Sehmi R. Modulating progenitor cell accumulation attenuates lung angiogenesis in a mouse model of asthma. *Eur. Respir. J*. 2011; 38(3): 679-687.

Duong H, Erzurum S, & Asosingh K. Pro-angiogenic hematopoietic progenitor cells and endothelial colony-forming cells in pathological angiogenesis of bronchial and pulmonary circulation. *Angiogenesis* 2011;*14*(4):411-422.

Ebina M, Takahashi T, Chiba T and Motomiya M. Cellular hypertrophy and hyperplasia of airway smooth muscles underlying bronchial asthma. A 3-D morphometric study. *The American Review of Respiratory Disease* 1993;148(3):720-726.

Elias JA, Zhu Z, Chupp G and Homer R. Airway Remodeling in Asthma. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1999;104(8):1001.

Ellis R., Leigh R., Southam D., O'Byrne P.M., Inman M.D. Morphometric analysis of mouse airways after chronic allergen challenge. *Laboratory Investigation* 2003; 83 (9): 1285-91.

Evans CM, Belmonte KE, Costello RW et al. Substance P-induced airway hyperreactivity is mediated by neuronal M2 receptor dysfunction. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2000;279:L477-86.

Faber A, Roderburg C, Wein F, et al. The Many Facets of SDF-1α, CXCR4 Agonists and Antagonists on Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, vol. 2007, Article ID 26065, 10 pages, 2007. doi:10.1155/2007/26065

Fattouh R, Al-Garawi A, Fattouh M, Arias K, Walker TD, Goncharova S, Coyle AJ, Humbles AA, Jordana M. Eosinophils are dispensible for allergic remodeling and immunity in a model of house dust mite-induced airway disease. Am. J. Repir. Crit. Care Med. 2011; 183:179-188.

Feltis BN, Wignarajah D, Zheng L, Ward C, Reid D, Harding R and Walters EH. Increased vascular endothelial growth factor and receptors: relationship to angiogenesis in asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2006;173(11):1201-1207.

94

Ferrara N. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in physiologic and pathologic angiogenesis: Therapeutic implications. *Seminars in Oncology* 2002;29:10–14.

Flood-Page PT, Menzies-Gow AN, Kay AB et al. Eosinophil's role remains uncertain as anti-interleukin-5 only partially depletes numbers in asthmatic airway. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2003;167:199-204.

Foster PS, Mould AW, Yang M et al. Elemental signals regulating eosinophil accumulation in the lung. *Immunol Rev* 2001;179:173-81.

Gauvreau GM, Denburg JA. Hemopoietic progenitors: the role of eosinophil/basophil progenitors in allergic airway inflammation. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* 2005;1:87-101. Gauvreau GM, Evans MY. Allergen Inhalation Challenge: A Human Model of Asthma

Exacerbation. *Contrib Microbiol* 2007;14:21-32.

Gauvreau GM, J. M. Lee JM, Watson RM, Irani AM, Schwartz B and O'Byrne PM. Increased numbers of both airway basophils and mast cells in sputum after allergen inhalation challenge of atopic asthmatics. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2000; 161(5):1473-1478.

Gerber HP, Dixit V and Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces expression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1 in vascular endothelial cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998;273(21):13313-13316.

Gizycki MJ, Adelroth E, Rogers AV, O'Byrne PM and Jeffery PK. Myofibroblast involvement in the allergen-induced late response in mild atopic asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 1997;16(6):664-673.

Global Initiatives for Asthma (GINA). GINA Report: Global Strategy for Asthma Management And Prevention. Available at: <www.ginasthma.org> [Accessed 1 October 2012].

Gregory LG & Lloyd CM. Orchestrating house dust mite-associated allergy in the lung. *Trends in Immunology* 2011;*32*(9):402-411.

Halayko AJ, Tran T, Ji SY, Yamasaki A and Gosens R. Airway smooth muscle phenotype and function: interactions with current asthma therapies. *Current Drug Targets* 2006;7(5):525-540.

Hallgren J and Gurish, MF, Pathways of murine mast cell development and trafficking: tracking the roots and routes of the mast cell. *Immunological Reviews* 2007, 217: 8–18.

Hartmann TN, Grabovsky V, Pasvolsky R, Shulman Z, Buss EC, Spiegel A, Nagler A, Lapidot T, Thelen M, Alon R. A crosstalk between intracellular CXCR7 and CXCR4 involved in rapid CXCL12-triggered integrin activation but not in chemokine-triggered motility of human T lymphocytes and CD34⁺ cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 2008;84:1130-1140.

Hasaneen NA, Zucker S, Lin RZ, Vaday GG, Panettieri RA, and Foda HD. Angiogenesis is induced by airway smooth muscle strain. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2007;293:L1059-L1068.

Hatse S, Princen K, Bridger G, De Clercq E and Schols D. Chemokine receptor inhibition by AMD3100 is strictly confined to CXCR4. *FEBS Letters* 2002;527(1-3):255-262.

96
Hirst SJ, Martin JG, Bonacci JV, Chan V, Fixman ED, Hamid QA, Herszberg B, Lavoie JP, McVicker CG, Moir LM, Nguyen TT, Peng Q, Ramos-Barbon D and Stewart AG. Proliferative aspects of airway smooth muscle. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2004;114(2 Suppl):S2-17.

Hogan MB, Piktel D, & Landreth KS. IL-5 production by bone marrow stromal cells: Implications for eosinophilia associated with asthma. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2000;*106*(2):329-36.

Hogan SP, Rosenberg HF, Moqbel R, Phipps S, Foster PS, Lacy P, Kay AB and Rothenberg ME. Eosinophils: biological properties and role in health and disease. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy : Journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2008;38(5):709-750.

Holgate ST, Djukanovic R, Wilson J, Roche W, Britten K and Howarth PH. Allergic inflammation and its pharmacological modulation in asthma. *International Archives of Allergy and Applied Immunology* 1991;94(1-4):210-217

Holmes AM, Solari R, & Holgate ST. Animal models of asthma: Value, limitations and opportunities for alternative approaches. *Drug Discovery Today* 2011;*16*(15-16):659-670.

Holmes C and Stanford WL. Concise review: stem cell antigen-1: expression, function, and enigma. *Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio)* 2007;25(6):1339-1347.

Hoshino M, Nakamura Y and Hamid QA. Gene expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors and angiogenesis in bronchial asthma. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2001;107(6):1034-1038.

Hristov M, Erl W and Weber PC. Endothelial progenitor cells: isolation and characterization. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine* 2003;13(5):201-206.

Inman MD, Ellis R, Wattie J, Denburg JA and O'Byrne PM. Allergen-induced increases in airway responsiveness, airway eosinophilia and bone marrow eosinophil progenitors in mice. 1999;21:473.

Inman MD. Bone marrow events in animal models of allergic inflammation and hyperresponsiveness. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2000;106(5 Suppl):S235-41.

Iyer SS, Co C, Rojas M. Mesenchymal stem cells and inflammatory lung diseases. *Panminerva Med* 2009;51:5-16.

Jacobsen EA, Ochkur SI, Pero RS, Taranova AG, Protheroe CA, Colbert DC, Lee NA, Lee JJ. Allergic pulmonary inflammation in mice is dependent on eosinophil-induced recruitment of effector T cells. *J Exp Med* 2008;205(3):699-710.

Jeffery PK. Remodeling in asthma and chronic obstructive lung disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2001;164(10 Pt 2):S28-38.

Jones CP, & Rankin SM. Bone marrow-derived stem cells and respiratory DiseaseBone marrow stem cells and respiratory disease. *CHEST Journal* 2011;*140*(1):205-211.

Kawanami O, Jin E, Ghazizadeh M, Fujiwara M, Jiang L, Ohaki Y, Gomibuchi M and Takemura T. Mosaic-like distribution of endothelial cell antigens in capillaries and juxtaalveolar microvessels in the normal human lung. *Pathology International* 2000;50(2):136-141.

Kay AB, Phipps S, and Robinson DS. A role for Eosinophils in airway remodelling in asthma. *TRENDS in Immunology* 2004;25(9):477-482.

Kay AB, Phipps S, and Robinson DS. A role for eosinophils in airway remodelling in asthma. *TRENDS in Immunology* 2004;25(9):477-482.

Kean LS, Sen S, Onabajo O, Singh K, Robertson J, Stempora L, Bonifacino AC, Metzger ME, Promislow DEL, Mattapallil JJ, and Donahue RE. Significant mobilization of both conventional and regulatory T cells with AMD3100. *Blood* 2011;118:6580-6590.

Khakoo AY and Finkel T. Endothelial progenitor cells. *Annual Review of Medicine* 2005;56:79-101.

Kim K, Kugler MC, Wolters PJ, Robillard L, Galvez MG, Brumwell AN, Sheppard D and Chapman HA. Alveolar epithelial cell mesenchymal transition develops in vivo during pulmonary fibrosis and is regulated by the extracellular matrix. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2006;103(35):13180-13185.

Kim KC, McCracken K, Lee BC, Shin CY, Jo MJ, Lee CJ and Ko KH. Airway goblet cell mucin: its structure and regulation of secretion. *The European Respiratory Journal :*

Official Journal of the European Society for Clinical Respiratory Physiology 1997;10(11):2644-2649

Knight DA, Rossi FM, Hackett TL. Mesenchymal stem cells for repair of the airway epithelium in asthma. *Expert Rev Respir Med* 2010; 4(6):747-758.

Krause DA, Fackler MJ, Civin CI, and May WS. CD34: structure, biology, and clinical utility. *Blood* 1996; 87:1-13.

Kucia M, Jankowski K, Reca R, Wysoczynski M, Bandura L, Allendorf DJ, Zhang J, Ratajczak J and Ratajczak MZ. CXCR4-SDF-1 signalling, locomotion, chemotaxis and adhesion. *Journal of Molecular Histology* 2004;35(3):233-245.

Kunzmann S, Schmidt-Weber C, Zingg JM, Azzi A, Kramer BW, Blaser K, Akdis CA and Speer CP. Connective tissue growth factor expression is regulated by histamine in lung fibroblasts: potential role of histamine in airway remodeling. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2007;119(6):1398-1407.

Kuwano K, Bosken CH, Paré PD, Bai TR, Wiggs BR, Hogg JC. Small airways dimensions in asthma and in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am Rev Respir Dis*. 1993;148(5):1220-5.

Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. The airway epithelium in asthma. *Nature Medicine* 2012;8(5):684-692

Lapidot T and Petit I. Current understanding of stem cell mobilization: the roles of chemokines, proteolytic enzymes, adhesion molecules, cytokines, and stromal cells. *Experimental Hematology* 2002;30(9):973-981.

Larrivee B, Niessen K, Pollet I, Corbel SY, Long M, Rossi FM, Olive PL and Karsan A. Minimal contribution of marrow-derived endothelial precursors to tumor vasculature. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* 2005;175(5):2890-2899

Lee CG, Link H, Baluk P, Homer RJ, Chapoval S, Bhandari V, Kang MJ, Cohn L, Kim YK, McDonald DM and Elias JA. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) induces remodeling and enhances TH2-mediated sensitization and inflammation in the lung. *Nature Medicine* 2004;10(10):1095-1103.

Lee JJ, Dimina D, Macias MP, Ochkur SI, McGarry MP, O'Neill KR et al. Defining a link with asthma in mice congenitally deficient in eosinophils. Science 2004; 305:1773-1776.

Lee YC and Lee HK. Vascular endothelial growth factor in patients with acute asthma. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2001;107(6):1106.

Leigh R, Vethanayagam D, Yoshida M, Watson RM, Rerecich T, Inman MD and O'Byrne PM. Effects of montelukast and budesonide on airway responses and airway inflammation in asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2002;166(9):1212-1217.

Lemanske Jr RF, & Busse WW. 6. asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2003;*111*(2, Supplement 2):S502-S519.

Leung DW, Cachianes G, Kuang WJ, Goeddel DV, Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. Science 1989;246:1306-9.

Levesque JP, Winkler IG, Larsen SR and Rasko JE. Mobilization of bone marrowderived progenitors. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* 2007;(180):3-36.

Levoye A, Balabanian K, Baleux F, Bachelerie F and Lagane B. CXCR7 heterodimerizes with CXCR4 and regulates CXCL12-mediated G protein signalling. *Blood*. 2009

Li X and Wilson JW. Increased vascularity of the bronchial mucosa in mild asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 1997;156(1):229-233.

Lukacs, NW, Berlin A, Schols D, Skerlj RT and Bridger GJ. AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist, attenuates allergic lung inflammation and airway hyperreactivity. *Am J Pathol* 2002**A**;160:1353.

Matsumoto H, Moir LM, Oliver BG, Burgess JK, Roth M, Black JL and McParland BE. Comparison of gel contraction mediated by airway smooth muscle cells from patients with and without asthma. *Thorax* 2007;62(10):848-854.

McDonald DM, Thurston G and Baluk P. Endothelial gaps as sites for plasma leakage in inflammation. *Microcirculation (New York, N.Y.: 1994)* 1999;6(1):7-22.

Mehrad B, Burdick MD and Strieter RM. Fibrocyte CXCR4 regulation as a therapeutic target in pulmonary fibrosis. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 2009;41(8-9):1708-1718.

Miettinen M, Lindenmayer AE and Chaubal A. Endothelial cell markers CD31, CD34, and BNH9 antibody to H- and Y-antigens--evaluation of their specificity and sensitivity in the diagnosis of vascular tumors and comparison with von Willebrand factor. *Modern*

Pathology : An Official Journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc 1994;7(1):82-90.

Miller MR, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, Crapo R, Enright P, van der Grinten CP, Gustafsson P, Jensen R, Johnson DC, MacIntyre N, McKay R, Navajas D, Pedersen OF, Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Wanger J; ATS/ERS Task Force. Standardisation of spirometry. *Eur Respir J*. 2005;26(2):319-38.

Minshall E, Cameron L, Wright E et al. Eosinophil differentiation within nasal mucosal explant tissue following in vitro challenge. [Abstract] *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1998;101: A969.

Moroose R and Hoyer LW. von Willebrand factor and platelet function. *Annual Review of Medicine* 1986;37:157-163.

Muller AM, Hermanns MI, Skrzynski C, Nesslinger M, Muller KM and Kirkpatrick CJ. Expression of the endothelial markers PECAM-1, vWf, and CD34 in vivo and in vitro. *Experimental and Molecular Pathology* 2002a;72(3):221-229

Muller AM, Skrzynski C, Nesslinger M, Skipka G and Muller KM. Correlation of age with in vivo expression of endothelial markers. *Experimental Gerontology* 2002b;37(5):713-719.

Murphy DM, & O'Byrne PM. Recent advances in the pathophysiology of asthma. *CHEST Journal* 2010;*137*(6):1417-1426.

Nials AT, Uddin S. Mouse models of allergic asthma: acute and chronic allergen challenge. *Diesease Models and Mechanisms* 2008; 1:213-220

Nishigaki Y, Fujiuchi S, Yamazaki Y, Matsumoto H, Takeda A, Fujita, Y, et al. Increased vascular endothelial growth factor in acute eosinophilic pneumonia. *European Respiratory Journal*, *21*, 2003;774–778.

O'Byrne PM and Inman MD. Airway hyperresponsiveness. *Chest* 2003;123(3 Suppl):411S-6S

O'Byrne PM, Inman MD. Airway hyperresponsiveness. Chest. 2003;123(3):411S-6S

Ohkawara Y, Lei XF, Stampfli MR, Marshall JS, Xing Z and Jordana M. Cytokine and eosinophil responses in the lung, peripheral blood, and bone marrow compartments in a murine model of allergen-induced airways inflammation. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 1997;16(5):510-520.

Palframan RT, Collins PD, Severs NJ et al. Mechanisms of acute eosinophil mobilization from the bone marrow stimulated by interleukin 5: the role of specific adhesion molecules and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Exp Med* 1998;188:1621-32.

Pandya NM, Dhalla NS and Santani SS. Angiogenesis--a new target for future therapy. *Vascular Pharmacology* 2006;44(5):265-274.

Pascual RM and Peters SP. Airway remodeling contributes to the progressive loss of lung function in asthma: an overview. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2005;116(3):477-86.

Peichev M, Naiyer AJ, Pereira D, Zhu Z, Lane WJ, Williams M, Oz MC, Hicklin DJ, Witte L, Moore MA and Rafii S. Expression of VEGFR-2 and AC133 by circulating

human CD34(+) cells identifies a population of functional endothelial precursors. *Blood* 2000;95(3):952-958.

Phillips RJ, Burdick MD, Hong K, Lutz MA, Murray LA, Xue YY, Belperio JA, Keane MP and Strieter RM. Circulating fibrocytes traffic to the lungs in response to CXCL12 and mediate fibrosis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2004;114(3):438-446.

Platts-Mills, T., D. Y. Leung and M. Schatz. The role of allergens in asthma. *American Family Physician* 2007; 76(5):675-680.

Pusztaszeri MP, Seelentag W and Bosman FT. Immunohistochemical expression of endothelial markers CD31, CD34, von Willebrand factor, and Fli-1 in normal human tissues. *The Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry : Official Journal of the Histochemistry Society* 2006;54(4):385-395.

Puxeddu I, Alian A, Piliponsky AM, Ribatti D, Panet A, & Levi-Schaffer F. Human peripheral blood eosinophils induce antiogenesis. *Int J Biochemistry & Cell Bio* 2005b;37:628-636.

Puxeddu I, Berkman N, Nissim AH, Efraim B, Davies DE, Ribatti D, Gleich GJ, & Levi-Schaffer F. The role of eosinophil major basic protein in angiogenesis. *Allergy* 2009;64:368-374.

Puxeddu I, Ribatti D, Crivellato E, & Levi-Schaffer F. Mast cells and eosinophils: A novel link between inflammation and angiogenesis in allergic diseases. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2005a;*116*(3):531-536.

Ratajczak MZ, & Kim C. The use of chemokine receptor agonists in stem cell mobilization. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy* 2012;*12*(3):287-297.

Reilkoff RA, Bucala R, Herzog EL. Fibrocytes: emerging effector cells in chronic inflammation. *Nat Rev Immun* 2011; 11:427-435

Risau W. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 1997;386(6626):671-674.

Robertson DG, Kerigan AT, Hargreave FE, Chalmers R, & Dolovich J. Late asthmatic responses induced by ragweed pollen allergen. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 1974;54(4):244-254.

Robertson, D. G., A. T. Kerigan, F. E. Hargreave, R. Chalmers and J. Dolovich. 1974. "Late asthmatic responses induced by ragweed pollen allergen." *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 54(4):244-254.

Roche WR, Beasley R, Williams JH and Holgate ST. Subepithelial fibrosis in the bronchi of asthmatics. *Lancet* 1989;1(8637):520-524.

Rogers DF. The airway goblet cell. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2003;35(1):1-6

Rothenberg ME, & Hogan SP. THE EOSINOPHIL. Annual Review of Immunology 2006;24:147-174.

Rothenberg ME, Hogan SP. The Eosinophil. Annu Rev Immunol 2006;24:147-74.

Sacco O, Silvestri M, Sabatini F, Sale R, Defilippi AC and Rossi GA. Epithelial cells and fibroblasts: structural repair and remodelling in the airways. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 2004;5 Suppl A:S35-40.

Schlaeger TM, Qin Y, Fujiwara Y, Magram J and Sato TN. Vascular endothelial cell lineage-specific promoter in transgenic mice. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 1995;121(4):1089-1098.

Schmidt M, Sun G, Stacey MA, Mori L and Mattoli S. Identification of circulating fibrocytes as precursors of bronchial myofibroblasts in asthma. *Journal of Immunology* (*Baltimore, Md.: 1950*) 2003;171(1):380-389.

Schols D, Struyf S, Van Damme J, Este JA, Henson G and De Clercq E. Inhibition of Ttropic HIV strains by selective antagonization of the chemokine receptor CXCR4. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1997;186(8):1383-1388.

Sehmi R and Denburg JA. Haemopoietic mechanisms in allergic rhinitis. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy : Journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2005;35(1):1-3.

Sehmi R, Denburg JA. Differentiation of human eosinophils: role in allergic inflammation. *Chem Immunol* 2000;76:29-44.

Sehmi R, Dorman S, Baatjes A, Watson R, Foley R, Ying S, Robinson DS, Kay AB, O'Byrne PM and Denburg JA. Allergen-induced fluctuation in CC chemokine receptor 3 expression on bone marrow CD34+ cells from asthmatic subjects: significance for mobilization of haemopoietic progenitor cells in allergic inflammation. *Immunology* 2003;109(4):536-546.

Sehmi R, Howie K, Sutherland DR, Schragge W, O'Byrne PM and Denburg JA. Increased levels of CD34+ hemopoietic progenitor cells in atopic subjects. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 1996;15(5):645-655.

Sehmi R, Wood LJ, Watson R, Foley R, Hamid Q, O'Byrne PM and Denburg JA. Allergen-induced increases in IL-5 receptor alpha-subunit expression on bone marrowderived CD34+ cells from asthmatic subjects. A novel marker of progenitor cell commitment towards eosinophilic differentiation. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1997;100(10):2466-2475.

Shi H. Eosinophils function as antigen-presenting cells. J Leukoc Biol 2004; 76:520-27.

Shi Y, Su J, Roberts AI, Shou P, Rabson AB, Ren G. How mesenchymal stem cells interact with tissue immune responses. *Trends in Immunology* 2012;33(3):136-143.

Simcock DE, Kanabar V, Clarke GW, O'Connor BJ, Lee TH and Hirst SJ. Proangiogenic activity in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2007;176(2):146-153.

Singh SR and Hall IP. Airway myofibroblasts and their relationship with airway myocytes and fibroblasts. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society* 2008;5(1):127-132.

Sjöbring U and Taylor JD. (Eds). Models of Exacerbations in Asthma and COPD. 2007. Karger Publishers.

Song JS, Kang CM, Kang HH, Yoon HK, Kim YK, Kim KH, Moon HS, and Park SH. *Exp Mol Med* 2010;42(6):465-476. Southam DS, Eillis R, Wattie J, and Inman MD. Components of airway hyperresponsiveness and their associations with inflammation and remodeling in mice. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2007;119:848-54.

Southam DS, Widmer N, Ellis R et al. Increased eosinophil-lineage committed progenitor cells in the lung of allergen challenged mice. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2005;115:95-102.

Statistics Canada, Garner R, Kohen D. Changes in the prevalence of childhood asthma. Health Reports, 2008; catalogue 82-003-X

Statistics Canada. Asthma, 2010 website [http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625 x/2011001/article/11458-eng.htm]

Statistics Canada. Millar WJ, Gerry BH. Childhood Asthma. Health Reports, 1998; 10(3): 12.

Stirling RG, van Rensen EL, Barnes PJ et al. Interleukin-5 induces CD34(+) eosinophil progenitor mobilization and eosinophil CCR3 expression in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001;164:1403-9.

Sutherland DR, Stewart AK and Keating A. CD34 antigen: molecular features and potential clinical applications. *Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio)* 1993;11 Suppl 3:50-57. The Canadian Lung Association. Lung Facts. 1994 Update.

Townley R, & Horiba M. Airway hyperresponsiveness: a story of mice and men and cytokines. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy and Immunology* 2003;24(1):85-110.

Urbano, F. Review of the NAEPP 2007 Expert Panel Report (EPR-3) on asthma diagnosis and treatment guidelines. *J Manag Care Pharm* 2006; 14:41-49.

Venge P, Bystrom J, Carlson M et al. Eosinophil cationic protein (ECP): molecular and biological properties and the use of ECP as a marker of eosinophil activation in disease. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1999;29:1172-86

Walters EH, Soltani A, Reid DW and Ward C. Vascular remodelling in asthma. *Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2008;8(1):39-43

Walters EH, Ward C, and Li Xun. Bronchoalveolar lavage in asthma research. *Respirology* 1996;1:233-245.

Warner SM and Knight DA. Airway modeling and remodeling in the pathogenesis of asthma. *Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2008;8(1):44-48.

Wilson JW and Hii S. The importance of the airway microvasculature in asthma. *Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2006;6(1):51-55.

Wilson JW and Kotsimbos T. Airway vascular remodeling in asthma. *Current Allergy* and Asthma Reports 2003;3(2):153-158.

Wilson JW and Robertson CF. Angiogenesis in paediatric airway disease. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 2002;3(3):219-229.

Wilson JW, Li X and Pain MC. The lack of distensibility of asthmatic airways. *The American Review of Respiratory Disease* 1993;148(3):806-809

Wood LJ, Inman MD, Denburg JA and O'Byrne PM. Allergen challenge increases cell traffic between bone marrow and lung. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 1998;18(6):759-767.

Wood LJ, Sehmi R, Dorman S et al. Allergen-induced increases in bone marrow T lymphocytes and interleukin-5 expression in subjects with asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002;166:883-9.

Wood LJ, Sehmi R, Gauvreau GM, Watson R, Foley R, Denburg JA and O'byrne PM. An inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, reduces baseline but not allergen-induced increases in bone marrow inflammatory cell progenitors in asthmatic subjects. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 1999;159(5 Pt 1):1457-1463.

Woodfin A, Voisin MB and Nourshargh S. PECAM-1: a multi-functional molecule in inflammation and vascular biology. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 2007;27(12):2514-2523.

Woodruff PG, Dolganov GM, Ferrando RE, Donnelly S, Hays SR, Solberg OD, Carter R, Wong HH, Cadbury PS and Fahy JV. Hyperplasia of smooth muscle in mild to moderate asthma without changes in cell size or gene expression. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2004;169(9):1001-1006.

Woolley MJ, Denburg JA, Ellis R, Dahlback M and O'Byrne PM. Allergen-induced changes in bone marrow progenitors and airway responsiveness in dogs and the effect of inhaled budesonide on these parameters. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 1994;11(5):600-606.

Yamaguchi J, Kusano KF, Masuo O, Kawamoto A, Silver M, Murasawa S, Bosch-Marce M, Masuda H, Losordo DW, Isner JM and Asahara T. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 effects on ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cell recruitment for ischemic neovascularization. *Circulation* 2003;107(9):1322-1328.

Yin AH, Miraglia S, Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G, Ogawa M, Leary AG, Olweus J, Kearney J and Buck DW. AC133, a novel marker for human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *Blood* 1997;90(12):5002-5012.

Yoder MC, Ingram DA . Endothelial progenitor cell: ongoing controversy for defining these cells and their role in neoangiogenesis in the murine system. *Curr Opin Hematol* . 2009;16(4):269 - 273 .

Yu C, Cantor AB, Yang H, Browne C, Wells RA, Fujiwara Y, and Orkin SH. Targeted Deletion of a High-Affinity GATA-binding Site in the GATA-1 Promoter Leads to Selective Loss of the Eosinophil Lineage In Vivo. *J Exp Med* 2002;195(11):1387-1395. Zeibecoglou K, Ying S, Yamada T et al. Increased mature and immature CCR3 messenger RNA+ eosinophils in bone marrow from patients with atopic asthma compared with atopic and nonatopic control subjects. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1999;103:99-106.

Zheng H, Fu G, Dai T and Huang H. Migration of endothelial progenitor cells mediated by stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha/CXCR4 via PI3K/Akt/eNOS signal transduction pathway. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* 2007;50(3):274

Zhu Z, Homer RJ, Wang Z, Chen Q, Geba GP, Wang J, Zhang Y, Elias JA. Pulmonary expression of interleukin-13 causes inflammation, mucus hypersecretion, subepithelial

fibrosis, physiologic abnormalities, and eotaxin production. *J Clin Invest*. 1999;103(6):779-88.

Zimmermann N, Hershey GK, Foster PS et al. Chemokines in asthma: cooperative interaction between chemokines and IL-13. J. *Allergy Clin Immunol* 2003;111:227-42.

Zosky GR, & Sly PD. Animal models of asthma. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy* 2007;37(7):973-988.

<u>APPENDIX A- Pilot Study: HDM Chronic Exposure Model in eosinophil deficient</u> <u>AdblGATA Mice</u>

To further confirm the results of the PHIL data, a second strain of eosinophil deficient mice Δ dblGATA underwent the HDM chronic exposure protocol and we assessed for the remodelling factors as mentioned previously (Figure 2). Two groups of mice were utilized, SAL control (n=5) and HDM (n=6).

Appendix A.1 Lung-extracted progenitor cell numbers

A trend towards decreased lung-extracted PC (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺) was observed in HDM exposed mice compared to SAL (HDM: 4 169±2 411 vs. SAL: 19 705±4 220 cells, p=0.57). A trend towards increased EPC (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺) was observed in the HDM group compared to SAL (HDM: 2 222±1 302vs. SAL: 4 653±884 cells, p= 0.83) (Appendix A, Figure 15).



Figure 15: Δ dblGATA mice (SAL: n=5, HDM: n=6) lung-extracted (A) Total primitive progenitor (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺) and (B) Total endothelial progenitor (EPC) (Sca-1⁺c-kit⁺VEGFR-2⁺) cell populations in lung samples 24hrs post allergen challenge enumerated by flow cytometry. There was a trend towards higher primitive progenitor cells in the SAL group compared to HDM exposed mice. EPC numbers were similar in both SAL and HDM groups. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

Appendix A.2 Bronchial vascularity

MVD was significantly increased in the HDM group compared to SAL mice (HDM: 139.81±31.67 vs. SAL: 43.16±26.50; p<0.005) (Appendix A, Figure 16).



Figure 16: Δ dblGATA mice (SAL: n=5, HDM: n=6) (A) Microvessel Density (MVD) as measured by von Willebrand factor staining (vWF) - images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 40X magnification. (B) Vessels counted were 10µm or less (arrows) in a 50µm bandwidth area around the main airway. MVD was significantly higher in HDM groups compared to SAL. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

Appendix A.3 Airway inflammation via BAL

Compared to SAL groups, HDM treated mice had significantly elevated total cell counts (SAL: 4.23 ± 0.65 vs. HDM: 8.69 ± 0.70 (x 10^4) cells, p=0.005), neutrophils (SAL: 0.17 ± 0.05 vs. HDM: 2.63 ± 0.33 (x 10^4) cells, p<0.0001), and lymphocytes (SAL: 0.45 ± 0.21 vs. HDM: 3.21 ± 0.61 (x 10^4) cells, p<0.0001). As this strain is eosinophil deficient, no eosinophils were detected in BAL fluid (Appendix A, Figure 17).



Total CellsEosinophilsNeutrophilsMacrophagesLymphocytesFigure 17: Airway inflammation as measured by bronchial alveolar lavage (BAL) for ΔdblGATAmice (SAL: n=5, HDM: n=6). HDM exposed mice had a significantly increased number ofinflammatory cells (excluding macrophages) compared to SAL. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and</td>#p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.</td>

Appendix A.4 Lung eosinophilia

To confirm Δ dblGATA mice are devoid of eosinophils, an H&E stain was performed on lung sections. Negligible numbers of eosinophils (1-2 eosinophils/group) were observed in SAL and HDM groups (SAL: 0.00± 0.00, HDM: 0.00±0.00 eosinophils/mm²) (Figure 18).



Figure 18: Δ dblGATA (n=5-6/group) (A) Airway eosinophils as measured by hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stain- images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 40x magnification. (B) Negligible numbers of eosinophils were observed in SAL, HDM and HDM/AMD groups. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

Appendix A.5 Collagen deposition

HDM exposed mice had a trend towards a higher percentage of stain compared to SAL (HDM: 11.42±1.07 vs. SAL: 10.07±1.62%, p=0.61) (Appendix A, Figure 19).



Figure 19: Δ dblGATA (SAL: n=5, HDM: n=6) (A) Collagen deposition as measured by picrosirius red (PSR) stain- images from 24hrs post-final allergen challenge at 20x magnification. (B) HDM exposed mice had a trend toward increased collagen deposition compared to SAL (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean.

Appendix A.6 Airway Responsiveness

In the dose-response curve, HDM exposed mice had a trend towards a greater

response to MCh compared to SAL (Appendix A, Figure 20A).

There was a trend towards an increase in maximal airway resistance to MCh for

the HDM group compared to SAL (HDM: 1.85±0.62 vs. SAL: 1.92±1.07 cmH₂O/ml/s,

p=0.51) (Appendix A, Figure 20B).



Figure 20: Δ dblGATA (SAL: n=5, HDM: n=6) (A) Airway resistance curve and (B) Maximal airway resistance 24hrs post allergen challenge. HDM exposed mice had a trend towards higher resistance compared to the SAL group. (*p<0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to HDM) Data expressed as mean± standard error of the mean. Note: values up to 25mg/ml were used in the analysis.



APPENDIX B- OVA Pilot Study: Optimizing AMD3100 Dosage

(A) Primitive progenitor cell (Sca-1+c-Kit+) and (B) Total vascular endothelial progenitor cell (Sca-1+c-Kit+VEGF2R+) populations in lung samples (n=5) 24hrs post allergen challenge. 15mg/kg of AMD 3100 maintained lung progenitors at saline levels. (*p< 0.05 compared to saline and #p<0.05 compared to OVA). Data expressed as mean ± standard error of the mean. (Doyle TM, MSc Thesis, 2009).



Microvessel Density (MVD) as measured by von Willebrand factor staining (vWF) (n=5) 24hrs post allergen challenge where AMD3100 in all dosages effectively attenuated MVD (*p< 0.05 compared to saline and # p<0.05 compared to OVA). Data expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean. (Doyle TM, MSc Thesis, 2009).



Airway eosinophilia (n=5) 24hrs post allergen challenge. All dosage groups of AMD 3100 effectively attenuating eosinophilia (*p< 0.05 compared to saline and # p<0.05 compared to OVA). Data expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean. (Doyle TM, MSc Thesis, 2009).